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SECTION I: GENERAL
DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Red Herring Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise indicates or implies,
or unless otherwise specified, shall have the meaning as provided below. References to any legislations, acts, regulations, rules,
directions, guidelines, circulars, notifications, clarifications or policies shall be to such legislations, acts, regulations, rules,
guidelines or policies as amended, updated, supplemented, re-enacted or modified, from time to time, and any reference to a
statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made, from time to time, under such provision.

The words and expressions used in this Red Herring Prospectus, but not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such
terms under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, SEBI Listing Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013, the SCRA, and the Depositories
Act and the rules and regulations made thereunder. Further, the Offer related terms used but not defined in this Red Herring
Prospectus shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms under the General Information Document (as defined below). In case
of any inconsistency between the definitions given below and the definitions contained in the General Information Document,
the definitions given below shall prevail.

The terms not defined herein but used in “Basis for Offer Price ”, “Statement of Special Tax Benefits ”, “Industry Overview”,
“Key Industry Regulations and Policies in India”, “History and Certain Corporate Matters”, “Our Group Companies”,
“Consolidated Financial Statements”, “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments”, “Offer Procedure” and
“Description of Equity Shares and Terms of the Articles of Association” beginning on pages 85, 92, 105, 139, 145, 199, 204,
604, 675 and 691, respectively, shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in these respective sections.

General Terms

Term Description
“our Company” or “the Issuer” or|Vodafone Idea Limited, a public limited company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 and
“the Company” having its Registered Office at Suman Tower, Plot No. 18, Sector 11, Gandhinagar 382 011, Gujarat,
India
“we” or “us” or “our” Unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, our Company together with our Subsidiaries,
Associate and Joint Venture, on a consolidated basis as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus

Company Related Terms

Term Description
2017 SHA Shareholders’ agreement dated March 20, 2017, as amended, entered by and among (i) our Company,
(ii) the Vodafone Group Shareholders (iii) the ICL Group Shareholders, (iv) Kumar Mangalam Birla
and (v) Vodafone International Holdings B.V.
“Articles of Association” or “AoA” | Articles of association of our Company, as amended
Associate Associate of our Company, being Aditya Birla Idea Payments Bank Limited
Audit Committee Audit committee of our Board, constituted in accordance with the applicable provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI Listing Regulations and as described in “Our Management -
Committees of the Board” on page 172
Audited Consolidated Financial | Each of the audited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its Subsidiaries and, Joint
Statements Venture and Associate at and for each of the financial years ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022
and March 31, 2021, prepared in accordance with Ind AS notified under the Ind AS Rules and Section
133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the presentation requirements of Division Il of Schedule
111 to the Companies Act, 2013, and which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31,
2023, March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit and loss, including
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement
of changes in equity for the year then ended, along with notes to the consolidated financial statements,
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
“Auditors” or “Statutory Auditors” | S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, the statutory auditors of our Company

“Board” or “Board of Directors” Board of directors of our Company or a duly constituted committee thereof

Capital Raising Committee Capital raising committee of our Board

Corporate Office The corporate office of our Company, situated at Birla Centurion, 101 Floor, Century Mills Compound
Pandurang Budhkar Marg, Worli, Mumbai 400 030, Maharashtra, India

“Company Secretary” and | Company secretary and compliance officer of our Company, Pankaj Kapdeo

“Compliance Officer”
Consolidated Financial Statements | The Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements

Corporate Social Responsibility | Corporate social responsibility committee of our Board constituted in accordance with the applicable

Committee provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and as described in “Our Management — Committees of the
Board” beginning on page 172

Director(s) Directors on our Board, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus and as disclosed in “Our
Management” beginning on page 161

ESOS 2006 The employee stock option scheme instituted by our Company in 2006, namely, the Employee Stock
Option Scheme — ESOS 2006, as amended.

ESOS 2013 The employee stock option scheme instituted by our Company in 2013, namely, the Employee Stock

Option Scheme — ESOS 2013, as amended. For details, see “Capital Structure — Notes to Capital
Structure — ESOS Schemes of our Company” on page 74
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Term

Description

ESOS 2018 The employee stock option scheme approved by our Company in 2018, namely, the VVodafone Idea
Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme 2018. The Company has not yet formulated and implemented
the employee stock option scheme under ESOS 2018.

ESOS Scheme The current employee stock option scheme of our Company, namely, the ESOS 2013

Equity Shares Equity shares of face value of 10 each of our Company

Group Our Company and its Subsidiaries

Group Companies

Companies as identified in terms of the materiality policy adopted by our Board pursuant to resolution
dated April 6, 2024 and as disclosed in “Our Group Companies” beginning on page 199

ICL Group Shareholders

Collectively, the following Aditya Birla group shareholders: (i) Grasim Industries Limited; (ii)
Hindalco Industries Limited; (iii) Birla TMT Holdings Private Limited; (iv) Pilani Investment and
Industries Corporation Limited; (v) Aditya Birla Nuvo Limited (which has since merged with and into
Grasim Industries Limited); (vi) Elaine Investments Pte Ltd; (vii) Oriana Investments Pte Ltd; and
(viii) IGH Holdings Private Limited

Independent Director(s)

Independent directors on our Board, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus as disclosed in “Our
Management” beginning on page 161

“JV” or “Joint Venture”

Joint venture of our Company, being FireFly Networks Limited

“Our Company has entered into a share purchase agreement dated November 4, 2023 with Manipura Digital
Infrastructure OPCO Pte. Ltd. for transfer of Company’s entire shareholding in Firefly, subject to completion of
closing conditions, post which FireFly shall cease to be a joint venture of the Company.

“Key Managerial Personnel” or

“KM P”

Key managerial personnel shall have the meaning as set out under Regulation 2(1)(bb) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations

Material Subsidiaries

Vodafone Idea Shared Services Limited, Vodafone Idea Communications Systems Limited and
Vodafone Idea Manpower Services Limited

“Memorandum of Association” or
6‘M0A37

Memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

Merger The merger of the erstwhile Vodafone India Limited and the erstwhile Vodafone Mobile Services
Limited with and into Idea Cellular Limited, effective from August 31, 2018

Nomination and Remuneration | Nomination and remuneration committee of our Board, constituted in accordance with the applicable

Committee provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI Listing Regulations and as described in “Our

Management” beginning on page 161

Non-Executive Director(s)

Non-executive director(s) on our Board, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus as disclosed in
“Our Management” beginning on page 161

OCD(s)

Optionally convertible debentures of face value of 21,000,000 each

Omega Scheme

Scheme of amalgamation and arrangement pursuant to which Jaykay Finholding (India) Private
Limited (now merged with Omega Telecom Holdings Private Limited), SMMS Investments Private
Limited, Nadal Trading Company Private Limited, Plustech Mercantile Company Private Limited,
ND Callus Info Services Private Limited, MV Healthcare Services Private Limited, AG Mercantile
Company Private Limited, Scorpios Beverages Private Limited, Telecom Investments India Private
Limited and UMT Investments Limited merged with and into Omega Telecom Holdings Private
Limited with effect from 4 July 2020

Promoters

Promoters of our Company, being:

1.  Kumar Mangalam Birla;

2. Hindalco Industries Limited;

3. Grasim Industries Limited;

4. Birla TMT Holdings Private Limited;"

5. Vodafone International Holdings B.V ;

6. Al-Amin Investments Limited;

7. Asian Telecommunication Investments (Mauritius) Limited;
8. CCII (Mauritius), Inc.;

9. Euro Pacific Securities Ltd;

10. Vodafone Telecommunications (India) Limited;
11. Mobilvest;

12. Prime Metals Ltd;

13. Trans Crystal Ltd;

14. Omega Telecom Holdings Private Limited; and
15. Usha Martin Telematics Limited.

*Birla TMT Holdings Private Limited, along with certain other entities, and Birla Group Holdings Private Limited
had filed an application before the National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai Bench (“NCLT Mumbai”) and
National Company Law Tribunal, Kolkata Bench (“NCLT Kolkata ”) seeking, amongst other things, the sanction
of a scheme of amalgamation under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013. NCLT Kolkata and NCLT
Mumbai by way of their orders have sanctioned the scheme for amalgamation of Birla TMT Holdings Private
Limited and certain other entities with and into Birla Group Holdings Private Limited (“Scheme”). The certified
true copy of the order passed by NCLT Mumbai has been received and filed with registrar of companies at Mumbai.
The certified true copy of the order passed by NCLT Kolkata is yet to be received. The Scheme shall become
effective upon receipt of requisite approvals, if any, and conclusion of the necessary filings, as applicable, after
receipt of the certified true copy of the order passed by NCLT Kolkata.

Promoter Group

Persons and entities constituting the promoter group of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(pp)
of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as described in “Our Promoters and Promoter Group” beginning on
page 177

Registered Office

Registered office of our Company, situated at Suman Tower, Plot No. 18, Sector 11, Gandhinagar 382
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Term

Description

011, Gujarat, India

“Registrar of Companies” or “RoC”

Registrar of Companies, Gujarat at Ahmedabad

Registrar to our Company

The registrar of our Company, being Bigshare Services Private Limited

Risk Management Committee

Risk management committee of our Board as disclosed in “Our Management” beginning on page 161

“Senior Management” or “SMP”’

Senior management shall have the meaning as set out under Regulation 2(1)(bbbb) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations

Shareholders

Shareholders of our Company from time to time

Special Purpose Interim Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements

Each of the unaudited special purpose interim condensed consolidated financial statements of our
Company, its Subsidiaries, Joint Venture and Associate, comprising of the special purpose interim
condensed consolidated balance sheet, special purpose interim condensed consolidated statement of
profit and loss, special purpose interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity and
special purpose interim condensed consolidated statement of cash flows, together with the explanatory
consolidated notes as and for the nine months period ended December 31, 2023 and December 31,
2022, which have been prepared to comply in all material aspects with Ind AS 34 (interim financial
reporting)

Stakeholders’ Relationship | Stakeholders’ relationship committee of our Board, as disclosed in “Our Management” beginning on
Committee page 161
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries of our Company, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus as disclosed in “History

and Certain Other Corporate Matters” beginning on page 145. For the purpose of financial
information, Subsidiaries would mean subsidiaries as at and during relevant fiscal / period.

Vodafone Group Shareholders

Collectively, (i) Al-Amin Investments Limited; (ii) Asian Telecommunication Investments
(Mauritius) Limited; (iii) CCIlI (Mauritius), Inc.; (iv) Euro Pacific Securities Ltd; (v) Vodafone
Telecommunications (India) Limited; (vi) Mobilvest; (vii) Prime Metals Ltd; (viii) Trans Crystal Ltd;
(ix) Omega Telecom Holdings Private Limited; and (x) Usha Martin Telematics Limited.

VVodafone India

Erstwhile Vodafone India Limited

VMSL

Erstwhile Vodafone Mobile Services Limited

Offer Related Terms

Term

Description

Acknowledgement Slip

Slip or document issued by the relevant Designated Intermediary(ies) to a Bidder as proof of
registration of the Bid cum Application Form

Allot, Allotment or Allotted

Unless the context otherwise requires, the allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the Offer to the
successful Bidders

Allotment Advice

Note or advice or intimation of Allotment sent to all the Bidders who have Bid in the Offer after the
Basis of Allotment has been approved by the Designated Stock Exchange

Allottee

Successful Bidder to whom the Equity Shares are Allotted

Anchor Investor(s)

Qualified Institutional Buyer, applying under the Anchor Investor Portion in accordance with the
requirements specified in the SEBI ICDR Regulations and this Red Herring Prospectus and who has
Bid for an amount of at least 100 million

Anchor Investor Allocation Price

Price at which Equity Shares will be allocated to the Anchor Investors in terms of this Red Herring
Prospectus, which will be decided by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers

Anchor Investor Application Form

Application form used by an Anchor Investor to make a Bid in the Anchor Investor Portion and which
will be considered as an application for Allotment in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the
Prospectus

Anchor Investor Bidding Date

April 16, 2024, being one Working Day prior to the Bid / Offer Opening Date, on which Bids by
Anchor Investors shall be submitted, prior to and after which the Book Running Lead Managers will
not accept any Bids from Anchor Investors, and allocation to Anchor Investors shall be completed

Anchor Investor Offer Price

Final price at which the Equity Shares will be Allotted to the Anchor Investors in terms of this Red
Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, which price will be equal to or higher than the Offer Price but
not higher than the Cap Price

The Anchor Investor Offer Price will be decided by our Company in consultation with the Book
Running Lead Managers

Anchor Investor Pay-in Date

With respect to Anchor Investor(s), the Anchor Investor Bidding Date, and in the event the Anchor
Investor Allocation Price is lower than the Anchor Investor Offer Price, not later than two Working
Days after the Bid/ Offer Closing Date

Anchor Investor Portion

Up to 60% of the QIB Portion which may be allocated by our Company in consultation with the Book
Running Lead Managers, to the Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI
ICDR Regulations

One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid
Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price

Application

Application made through (i) the ASBA Form by ASBA Bidders under the ASBA Process; and (ii)
Anchor Investor Application Form (in case of Anchor Investors), to submit Bids in order to subscribe
to the Equity Shares at the Offer Price

“Application Supported by Blocked
Amount” or
CtASBA”

An application, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders, to make a Bid and authorising
an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the ASBA Account and will include applications made by UPI
Bidders using the UPI Mechanism where the Bid Amount will be blocked by the SCSB upon
acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by the UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism
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Term

Description

ASBA Account

A bank account maintained by an ASBA Bidder with an SCSB and specified in the ASBA Form
submitted by such ASBA Bidder in which funds will be blocked by such SCSB to the extent specified
in the ASBA Form submitted by such ASBA Bidder and includes a bank account maintained by a UPI
Bidder linked to a UPI ID, which will be blocked by the SCSB upon acceptance of the UPI Mandate
Request in relation to a Bid by a UPI Bidder Bidding through the UPI Mechanism

ASBA Bidders

All Bidders except Anchor Investors

ASBA Form

An application form, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders to submit Bids, which
will be considered as the application for Allotment in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the
Prospectus

Bankers to the Offer

Collectively, the Escrow Collection Bank, Refund Bank, Public Offer Account Bank and Sponsor
Banks, as the case may be

Basis of Allotment

Basis on which Equity Shares will be Allotted to successful Bidders under the Offer. For details, see
“Offer Procedure” beginning on page 675

Bid(s)

An indication to make an offer during the Bid/Offer Period by an ASBA Bidder pursuant to submission
of the ASBA Form, or during the Anchor Investor Bidding Date by an Anchor Investor, pursuant to
submission of the Anchor Investor Application Form, to subscribe to the Equity Shares at a price
within the Price Band, including all revisions and modifications thereto as permitted under the SEBI
ICDR Regulations and in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the Bid cum Application Form.
The term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly

Bid Amount

Highest value of optional Bids indicated in the Bid cum Application Form and, in the case of RIBs
Bidding at the Cut off Price, the Cap Price multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such
UPI Bidder and mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form and payable by the Bidder or blocked in
the ASBA Account of the Bidder, as the case may be, upon submission of the Bid

Bid cum Application Form

Anchor Investor Application Form or the ASBA Form, as the context requires and which shall be
considered as the application for the Allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the terms of this Red
Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus

Bid Lot

[e] Equity Shares and in multiples of [e] Equity Shares thereafter

Bid/Offer Closing Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date after which the Designated
Intermediaries will not accept any Bids, being April 22, 2024, which shall be notified in all editions
of English national daily newspaper, Business Standard, all editions of Hindi national daily newspaper,
Jansatta and regional edition of the Gujarati daily newspaper, Sandesh (Gujarati being the regional
language of Gujarat, where our Registered Office is located), each with wide circulation.

In case of any revisions, the extended Bid/ Offer Closing Date will be widely disseminated by
notification to the Stock Exchanges, by issuing a public notice, and also by indicating the change on
the websites of the Book Running Lead Managers and at the terminals of the other members of the
Syndicate and by intimation to the Designated Intermediaries and the Sponsor Banks

Bid/Offer Opening Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date on which the Designated
Intermediaries shall start accepting Bids, being April 18, 2024 which shall be notified in all editions
of English national daily newspaper, Business Standard, all editions of Hindi national daily newspaper,
Jansatta and regional edition of the Gujarati daily newspaper, Sandesh (Gujarati being the regional
language of Gujarat, where our Registered Office is located), each with wide circulation

Bid/Offer Period

Except in relation to Anchor Investors, the period between the Bid/Offer Opening Date and the
Bid/Offer Closing Date, inclusive of both days, during which Bidders can submit their Bids, including
any revisions thereof, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, provided that such period shall
be kept open for a minimum of three Working Days.

In case of force majeure, banking strike or similar circumstances, our Company in consultation with
the BRLMs, for reasons to be recorded in writing, extend the Bid / Offer Period for a minimum of
three Working Days, subject to the Bid/ Offer Period not exceeding 10 Working Days

Bidder/Applicant

Any prospective investor who makes a Bid pursuant to the terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and
the Bid cum Application Form and unless otherwise stated or implied, which includes an ASBA
Bidder and an Anchor Investor

Bidding Centres

Centres at which the Designated Intermediaries shall accept the Bid cum Application Forms, being
the Designated Branches for SCSBs, Specified Locations for the Syndicate, Broker Centres for
Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for RTAs and Designated CDP Locations for CDPs

Book Building Process

Book building process, as provided in Part A of Schedule XIII of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, in
terms of which the Offer is being made

“Book Running Lead Managers” or
“BRLMS” or “Lead Managers”

Book running lead managers to the Offer, namely Axis Capital Limited, Jefferies India Private Limited
and SBI Capital Markets Limited

Broker Centres

Broker centres notified by the Stock Exchanges where ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms
to a Registered Broker

The details of such Broker Centres, along with the names and the contact details of the Registered
Brokers are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com)

Cap Price

Higher end of the Price Band, subject to any revisions thereto, above which the Offer Price and Anchor
Investor Offer Price will not be finalised and above which no Bids will be accepted. The Cap Price
shall be at least 105% of the Floor Price

Cash Escrow and Sponsor Banks

Cash escrow and sponsor banks agreement dated April 11, 2024, entered into between our Company,
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Term

Description

Agreement the Book Running Lead Managers, the Registrar to the Offer, the Bankers to the Offer and the
Syndicate Members for, inter alia, collection of the Bid Amounts from the Anchor Investors, transfer
of funds to the Public Offer Accounts and where applicable, refunds of the amounts collected from
the Anchor Investors, on the terms and conditions thereof, in accordance with the UPI Circulars

Client ID Client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to demat account

“Collecting Depository Participant”
or “CDP”

Depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996, registered with SEBI and who is
eligible to procure Bids from relevant Bidders at the Designated CDP Locations in terms of SEBI
circular number CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 as per the list available
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges, as updated from time to time

“Confirmation of Allocation Note”
or “CAN”

Notice or intimation of allocation of the Equity Shares sent to Anchor Investors, who have been
allocated Equity Shares, on or after the Anchor Investor Bidding Date

Cut-off Price

Offer Price finalised by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers which
shall be any price within the Price Band.

Only Retail Individual Bidders Bidding in the Retail Portion are entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price.
QIBs (including the Anchor Investors) and Non-Institutional Bidders are not entitled to Bid at the Cut-
off Price

Demographic Details

Demographic details of the Bidders including the Bidders’ address, name of the Bidders’ father or
husband, investor status, occupation, bank account details, PAN and UPI ID, where applicable

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Forms from relevant Bidders, a list of
which is available on the website of SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35, or at such other
website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where relevant ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms

The details of such Designated CDP Locations, along with names and contact details of the CDPs
eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on the websites of the Stock Exchanges
(www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com)

Designated Date

Date on which the Escrow Collection Bank transfers funds from the Escrow Account to the Public
Offer Accounts or the Refund Account, as the case may be, and the instructions are issued to the
SCSBs (in case of UPI Bidders using UPI Mechanism, instruction issued through the Sponsor Banks)
for the transfer of amounts blocked by the SCSBs in the ASBA Accounts to the Public Offer Accounts,
in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, following which the Equity Shares will
be Allotted in the Offer

Designated Intermediary(ies)

Collectively, the members of the Syndicate, sub-syndicate or agents, SCSBs (other than in relation to
RIBs using the UPI Mechanism), Registered Brokers, CDPs and RTAs, who are authorised to collect
Bid cum Application Forms from the relevant Bidders, in relation to the Offer.

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by RIBs Bidding in the Retail Portion and Non-Institutional
Bidders bidding with an application size of up to ¥0.50 million (not using the UPI Mechanism) by
authorising an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the ASBA Account, Designated Intermediaries shall
mean SCSBs.

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by UPI Bidders where the Bid Amount will be blocked upon
acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by such UPI Bidder using the UPI Mechanism, Designated
Intermediaries shall mean Syndicate, sub-syndicate/agents, Registered Brokers, CDPs, SCSBs and
RTAs.

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders (not using the UPI
Mechanism), Designated Intermediaries shall mean Syndicate, sub-syndicate/ agents, SCSBs,
Registered Brokers, the CDPs and RTAs

Designated RTA Locations

Such locations of the RTAs where relevant ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms to RTAs.

The details of such Designated RTA Locations, along with names and contact details of the RTAs
eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on the websites of the Stock Exchanges
(www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com)

Designated Stock Exchange

NSE

Eligible FPI(s)

FPI(s) that are eligible to participate in the Offer in terms of applicable law and from such jurisdictions
outside India where it is not unlawful to make an offer / invitation under the Offer and in relation to
whom the Bid cum Application Form and this Red Herring Prospectus constitutes an invitation to
subscribe to or purchase the Equity Shares

Eligible NRI(s)

NRI(s) eligible to invest under Schedule 3 and Schedule 4 of the FEMA Rules, from jurisdictions
outside India where it is not unlawful to make an offer or invitation under the Offer and in relation to
whom the Bid cum Application Form and this Red Herring Prospectus will constitute an invitation to
subscribe to or purchase the Equity Shares

Escrow Account(s)

A ‘no-lien’ and ‘non-interest bearing’ account(s) opened with the Escrow Collection Bank and in
whose favour the Anchor Investors will transfer money through direct credit/NEFT/RTGS/NACH in
respect of the Bid Amount when submitting a Bid

Escrow Collection Bank

Bank which is a clearing member and registered with SEBI as a banker to an issue under the SEBI
BTI Regulations and with whom the Escrow Account will be opened, in this case being HDFC Bank
Limited

First Bidder/Sole Bidder

Bidder whose name shall be mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form or the Revision Form and in
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Term

Description

case of joint Bids, whose name also appears as the first holder of the beneficiary account held in joint
names

Floor Price

Lower end of the Price Band, subject to any revision thereto, not being less than the face value of the
Equity Shares at or above which the Offer Price and the Anchor Investor Offer Price will be finalised
and below which no Bids will be accepted

Fraudulent Borrower

Fraudulent borrower as defined under Regulation 2(1)(l11) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Fugitive Economic Offender

Individual who is declared a fugitive economic offender under Section 12 of the Fugitive Economic
Offenders Act, 2018

“General Information Document”
or “GID”

General Information Document for investing in public issues, prepared and issued in accordance with
the SEBI circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/37) dated March 17, 2020 and the UPI Circulars.
The General Information Document shall be available on the websites of the Stock Exchanges, and
the Book Running Lead Managers

Gross Proceeds

The gross proceeds received pursuant to the Offer

Monitoring Agency

CARE Ratings Limited

Monitoring Agency Agreement

Agreement dated April 11, 2024 entered into between our Company and the Monitoring Agency in
relation to the responsibilities and obligations of the Monitoring Agency for monitoring the utilisation
of Net Proceeds

Mutual Fund Portion

5% of the Net QIB Portion or [e] Equity Shares which shall be available for allocation to Mutual
Funds only on a proportionate basis, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price

Mutual Funds

Mutual funds registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds)
Regulations, 1996

Net Proceeds

Proceeds of the Offer that will be available to our Company, i.e., gross proceeds of the Offer, less
Offer expenses to the extent applicable to the Offer. For details in relation to use of the Net Proceeds
and the Offer expenses, see “Objects of the Offer” beginning on page 75

Net QIB Portion

The portion of the QIB Portion less the number of Equity Shares Allotted to the Anchor Investors

“Non-Institutional  Bidders”

“NIBs” or “NlIs”

or

All Bidders that are not QIBs or RIBs and who have Bid for Equity Shares, for an amount of more
than Z0.20 million (but not including NRIs other than Eligible NRIs)

Non-Institutional Portion

Portion of the Offer being not less than 15% of the Offer comprising [e] Equity Shares which shall be
available for allocation to NllIs in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids
being received at or above the Offer Price

The allocation to the Nlls shall be as follows:

a) One third of such portion shall be reserved for Bidders with Bids exceeding 0.20 million up to
%1.00 million; and
b) Two third of such portion shall be reserved for applicants with Bids exceeding ¥1.00 million;

Provided that the unsubscribed portion in either of such sub-categories may be allocated to applicants
in the other sub-category of Non-Institutional Bidders, subject to valid Bids being received at or above
the Offer Price

Offer

Further public offering by way of a fresh issue of Equity Shares of face value of 10 each for cash at
aprice of X [®] each (including a share premium of X [ ®] per Equity Share), aggregating up to ¥180,000
million

Offer Agreement

Agreement dated April 11, 2024 entered amongst our Company and the Book Running Lead
Managers, pursuant to which certain arrangements have been agreed to in relation to the Offer

Offer Price

X[ e] per Equity Share, being the final price within the Price Band, being the final price at which Equity
Shares will be Allotted to ASBA Bidders in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus.
Equity Shares will be Allotted to Anchor Investors at the Anchor Investor Offer Price in terms of this
Red Herring Prospectus

Price Band

Price band of a minimum price of X [e] per Equity Share (Floor Price) and the maximum price of T
[] per Equity Share (Cap Price) including revisions thereof.

The Price Band and the minimum Bid Lot for the Offer will be decided by our Company in
consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, and will be advertised in all editions of English
national daily newspaper, Business Standard, all editions of Hindi national daily newspaper, Jansatta
and regional edition of the Gujarati daily newspaper, Sandesh (Gujarati being the regional language
of Gujarat, where our Registered Office is located), each with wide circulation, at least two Working
Days prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date and shall be available to the Stock Exchanges for the purpose
of uploading on their respective websites

Pricing Date

Date on which our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, will finalise the
Offer Price

Prospectus

The prospectus to be filed with the RoC on or after the Pricing Date in accordance with Section 26 of
the Companies Act, 2013, and the SEBI ICDR Regulations containing, inter alia, the Offer Price that
is determined at the end of the Book Building Process, the size of the Offer and certain other
information including any addenda or corrigenda thereto

Public Offer Accounts

A ‘no-lien” and ‘non-interest bearing’ account opened in accordance with Section 40(3) of the
Companies Act, 2013, with the Public Offer Account Bank to receive monies from the Escrow
Account and the ASBA Accounts on the Designated Date

Public Offer Account Bank

Bank which is a clearing member and registered with SEBI as a banker to an issue, and with whom
the Public Offer Account for collection of Bid Amounts from Escrow Accounts and ASBA Accounts
will be opened, in this case being Axis Bank Limited
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Description

“QIBs” or “QIB Bidders” or|Qualified institutional buyers as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

“Qualified Institutional Buyers”

QIB Portion Portion of the Offer, being not more than 50% of the Offer or [®] Equity Shares to be Allotted to QIBs
on a proportionate basis, including the Anchor Investor Portion (in which allocation shall be on a
discretionary basis, as determined by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers), subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price or Anchor Investor Offer
Price (for Anchor Investors)

“Red Herring Prospectus” or | This red herring prospectus dated April 11, 2024 to be issued in accordance with Section 32 of the

“RHP”

Companies Act, 2013, and the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which will not have
complete particulars of the price at which the Equity Shares will be offered and the size of the Offer,
including any addenda or corrigenda thereto.

This Red Herring Prospectus will be filed with the RoC at least three Working Days before the Bid /
Offer Opening Date and will become the Prospectus upon filing with the RoC after the Pricing Date

Registrar to the Offer

Link Intime India Private Limited

Refund Account(s)

A ‘no-lien’ and ‘non-interest bearing’ account opened with the Refund Bank, from which refunds, if
any, of the whole or part, of the Bid Amount to the Bidders shall be made

Refund Bank

Banker to the Offer with whom the Refund Account(s) have been opened, in this case being HDFC
Bank Limited

Registered Brokers

The stockbrokers registered with the stock exchanges having nationwide terminals, other than the
members of the Syndicate and eligible to procure Bids in terms of circular number no.
CIR/CFD/14/2012 dated October 4, 2012 and the UPI Circulars, issued by SEBI

Registrar Agreement

Agreement dated April 11, 2024 entered by and amongst our Company and the Registrar to the Offer,
in relation to the responsibilities and obligations of the Registrar pertaining to the Offer

“Retail Individual Bidder(s)” or
“Retail Individual Investor(s)” or
“RII(s)” or “RIB(s)”

Individual Bidders submitting Bids, who have Bid for the Equity Shares for an amount not more than
%2,00,000 in any of the bidding options in the Offer (including HUFs applying through their Karta)
and Eligible NRIs

Resident Indian

A person resident in India, as defined under FEMA

Retail Portion

Portion of the Offer being not less than 35% of the Offer comprising of [®] Equity Shares, which shall
be available for allocation to RIBs in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid
Bids being received at or above the Offer Price which shall not be less than the minimum Bid Lot
subject to availability in the Retail Portion and the remaining Equity Shares to be Allotted on
proportionate basis

Revision Form

Form used by Bidders to modify the quantity of the Equity Shares or the Bid Amount in any of their
Bid cum Application Forms or any previous Revision Form(s), as applicable

QIB Bidders and Non-Institutional Bidders are not allowed to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms
of quantity of Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. Retail Individual Bidders can revise
their Bids during the Bid/ Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until Bid/Offer Closing Date

“RTAs” or “Registrar and Share
Transfer Agents”

Registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure Bids from relevant
Bidders at the Designated RTA Locations in terms of SEBI circular number
CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 issued by SEBI and available on the
websites of the Stock Exchanges at www.nseindia.com and www.bseindia.com

SEBI SCORES

Securities and Exchange Board of India Complaints Redress System

“Self Certified Syndicate Bank(s)”
or “SCSB(s)”

Banks registered with SEBI, offering services (i) in relation to ASBA (other than through UPI
Mechanism), a list of which is available on the website of SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=34 or
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35, as applicable, or
such other website as updated from time to time, and (ii) in relation to ASBA (through UPI
Mechanism), a list of which is available on the website of SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40 or such other
website as may be prescribed by SEBI and updated from time to time. A list of SCSBs and mobile
applications, which are live for applying in public issues using UPI mechanism is provided as
Annexure A to the SEBI circular number SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85 dated July 26, 2019

Specified Locations

Bidding centres where the Syndicate shall accept Bid cum Application Forms from relevant Bidders,
a list of which is available on the website of SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in), and updated from time to time

Sponsor Banks

Axis Bank Limited and HDFC Bank Limited, appointed by our Company to act as conduits between
the Stock Exchanges and NPCI in order to push the mandate collect requests and / or payment
instructions of the UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism, in terms of the UPI Circulars

Sub-Syndicate Members

Sub-syndicate members, if any, appointed by the Book Running Lead Managers and the Syndicate
Members, to collect ASBA Forms and Revision Forms

Syndicate Agreement

Syndicate agreement dated April 11, 2024 entered into between our Company and the members of the
Syndicate in relation to collection of Bid cum Application Forms by the Syndicate

Syndicate Member(s)

Intermediaries (other than the Book Running Lead Managers) registered with SEBI who are permitted
to accept bids, applications and place order with respect to the Offer, namely Investec Capital Services
(India) Private Limited and SBICAP Securities Limited

“Syndicate” or “members of the
Syndicate”

Book Running Lead Managers and the Syndicate Members

Underwriters

[e]

Underwriting Agreement

Underwriting agreement to be entered into between our Company and the Underwriters, on or after
the Pricing Date, but prior to filing the Prospectus with the RoC
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Term

Description

UPI

Unified payments interface, which is an instant payment mechanism, developed by NPCI

UPI Bidders

Collectively, individual investors applying as (i) Retail Individual Bidders in the Retail Portion, and
(ii) Non-Institutional Bidders with a Bid Amount of up to 20.50 million in the Non-Institutional
Portion, and Bidding under the UPI Mechanism through ASBA Form(s) submitted with Syndicate
Members, Registered Brokers, Collecting Depository Participants and Registrar and Share Transfer
Agents.

Pursuant to Circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/P/2022/45 dated April 5, 2022 issued by SEBI,
all individual investors applying in public issues where the Bid Amount is up to ¥5,00,000 shall use
UPI Mechanism, shall provide their UPI ID in the Bid-cum-Application Form submitted with: (i) a
syndicate member, (ii) a stock broker registered with a recognized stock exchange (whose name is
mentioned on the website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity), (iii) a depository
participant (whose name is mentioned on the website of the stock exchange as eligible for such
activity), and (iv) a registrar to an issue and share transfer agent (whose name is mentioned on the
website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity)

“UPI Circulars”/ “Circular
Streamlining of Public Issues”

on

SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/138 dated November 1, 2018, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/50  dated ~ April 3, 2019, SEBI circular  no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76  dated June 28, 2019, SEBI circular  no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85  dated July 26, 2019 SEBI  circular  no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DCR2/CIR/P/2019/133 dated November 8, 2019, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2020/50 dated March 30, 2020, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2021/2480/1/M dated March 16, 2021, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2021/570  dated June 2, 2021, SEBI circular  no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45  dated  April 5, 2022, SEBI circular  no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51  dated  April 20, 2022, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2022/75 dated May 30, 2022, SEBI master circular with circular no.
SEBI/HO/MIRSD/POD-1/P/CIR/2023/70 dated May 17, 2023 (to the extent that such circulars pertain
to the UPI Mechanism), SEBI master circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/00094 dated
June 21, 2023, SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/TPD1/CIR/P/2023/140 dated August 9, 2023, and
any subsequent circulars or notifications issued by SEBI in this regard, along with the circulars issued
by the Stock Exchanges in this regard, including the circular issued by the NSE having reference no.
25/2022 dated August 3, 2022, and the circular issued by BSE having reference no. 20220803-40
dated August 3, 2022

UPI ID

ID created on the UPI for single-window mobile payment system developed by the NPCI

UPI Mandate Request

A request (intimating the UPI Bidder by way of a notification on the UPI linked mobile application
and by way of a SMS for directing the UPI Bidder to such UPI linked mobile application) to the UPI
Bidder initiated by the Sponsor Banks to authorise blocking of funds on the UPI application equivalent
to Bid Amount and subsequent debit of funds in case of Allotment

UPI Mechanism

Process for applications by UPI Bidders submitted with intermediaries with UPI as mode of payment,
in terms of the UPI Circulars

UPI Pin UPI PIN Password to authenticate UPI transaction
Wilful Defaulter Wilful defaulter as defined under Regulation 2(1)(lll) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations
Working Day All days on which commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business; provided however, with

reference to (a) announcement of Price Band; and (b) Bid/Offer Period, the term Working Day shall
mean all days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, on which commercial banks in
Mumbai are open for business; and (c) the time period between the Bid/Offer Closing Date and the
listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges, “Working Day” shall mean all trading days of
the Stock Exchanges, excluding Sundays and bank holidays, as per circulars issued by SEBI, including
the UPI Circulars

Technical, Industry Related Terms or Abbreviations

Term Description

2G Second generation mobile telecommunication technology

3G Third generation mobile telecommunication technology

4G Fourth generation mobile telecommunication technology

5G Fifth generation mobile telecommunication technology

6G Sixth generation mobile telecommunication technology

A2P Application-to-person

AGR Adjusted gross revenue

ApGR Applicable gross revenue

ARPU ARPU is calculated by dividing services revenue (exclusive of infrastructure, fixed line and device
revenues) for the relevant period by the average number of subscribers during the period. The result
obtained is divided by the number of months in that period to arrive at the ARPU per month figure.

BSC Base station controllers

BTS Base transceiver stations

BWA Broadband wireless access

COAI Cellular Operators Association of India

CDMA Code division multiple access

CMTS Cellular Mobile Telephone Services

CNPN Captive Non Public Network




Term

Description

DDoS

Distributed Denial of Service

“DoT” or “Department of
Telecommunications”

Department of Telecommunications, Ministry of Communications, Government of India

DSR Diameter signalling routers

EDR Exchange data records

FDD Frequency division duplex

EMF Electromagnetic field

FDI Foreign direct investment

GDP Gross domestic product

GHz Gigahertz

GSM Global System for Mobile Communication
HD High definition

ILD International long distance

ILL Internet leased line

IMF WEO International Monetary Fund World Economic Outlook
loT Internet of Things

IP Internet Protocol

IP-1 Infrastructure Provider Category 1

IRU Indefeasible right to use

ISP Internet service provider

ITFS International toll free service

IVR Interactive voice response

KYC Know your customer

LSA Licensed Service Area

LTE Long Term Evolution

Massive MIMO Massive multiple-input multiple-output
MHz Megahertz

MPLS Multiprotocol label switching

MSC Mobile switch centres

MSME Micro, small and medium enterprises under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development

Act, 2006

New NTP 1999

New Telecom Policy, 1999

NLD National long distance

NSA Non-standalone

NTP 1994 National Telecom Policy 1994

NTP 2018 National Telecommunications Policy, 2018

OEMs Original equipment manufacturers

oRAN Open radio access network

OoTSsSC One Time Spectrum Charges

RAN Radio access network

RNC Radio Network Controller

SACFA Standing Advisory Committee on Radio Frequency Allocations of the Wireless Planning and
Coordination Wing of the Ministry of Communications, Government of India

SIM Subscriber identification module

SME Small and medium enterprises

SMS Short messaging service

SRAN Single Radio Access Network

SUC Spectrum Usage Charges

TDD Time Division Duplex

TRAI Telecom Regulatory Authority of India, constituted under the Telecom Regulatory Authority of India
Act, 1997

TSP Telecom service provider

UAN Universal access number

UBR Ultra Broadband Radios

UEM Unified endpoint management

UIFN Universal international freephone number

“UL” or “Unified License” or | Unified Access Service License

“UASL”

VAS Value added services

VLR Visitor location register

VolP Voice over Internet Protocol

VOLTE Voice over LTE / Voice over Long Term Evolution

VRAN Virtualized radio access network

WLL Wireless local loop
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Conventional and General Terms or Abbreviations

Term

Description

“3” or “Rs.” or “Rupees” or “INR”

Indian Rupees

AGM

Annual general meeting

AlF(s) Alternative Investment Funds as defined in, and registered under the SEBI AIF Regulations
BSE BSE Limited

CAF Customer application form

CAGR Compound annual growth rate

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

CIN Corporate Identity Number

“Companies Act” or “Companies
Act, 2013”7

Companies Act, 2013, as applicable, along with the relevant rules, regulations, clarifications and
modifications made thereunder

Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956, along with the relevant rules framed thereunder

CrPC

The Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973

“Consolidated FDI Policy” or “FDI
Policy”

Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the DPIT under DPIT File Number
5(2)/2020-FDI Policy dated the October 15, 2020, effective from October 15, 2020, and any
modifications thereto or substitutions thereof, issued from time to time

Depositories

Together, NSDL and CDSL

Depositories Act

Depositories Act, 1996, read with the rules, regulations, amendments and modifications notified
thereunder

DIN

Director Identification Number

DP ID

Depository Participant’s Identification

“DP” or “Depository Participant”

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

EBITDA

EBITDA of the Company is calculated as profit/ (loss) after tax added by current and deferred tax,
finance costs, depreciation, amortization, exceptional items (net), share in profit / (loss) of joint
venture, less other income

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

EPS Earnings per share

FDI Foreign direct investment

FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with rules and regulations thereunder
FEMA Rules Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019

“Financial Year” or “Fiscal”
“Fiscal Year” or “FY”

or

Unless stated otherwise, the period of 12 months commencing on April 1 of the immediately preceding
calendar year and ending March 31 of that particular calendar year

FIR First information report

FPI Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations

FPO Further public offering

FVCI Foreign venture capital investors as defined and registered under the SEBI FVCI Regulations
Gazette Gazette of India

GDP Gross domestic product

“Gol” or “Government” or “Central
Government”

Government of India

GST Goods and services tax

HUF Hindu Undivided Family

HNI High net worth individual

IBC Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, and referred to
in the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015

India Republic of India

“Indian GAAP/IGAAP” Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act,
2013, read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

IPC The Indian Penal Code, 1860

IST Indian Standard Time

IT Information Technology

IT Act Information Technology Act, 2000

KYC Know Your Customer

MCA Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India

“Mn” or “mn” Million

Mutual Funds Mutual funds registered under the SEBI Mutual Funds Regulations

“N/A” or “N.A.” Not applicable

NAV Net Asset Value

NCLT National Company Law Tribunal

NCLAT National Company Law Appellate Tribunal

Net Worth Net worth represents sum total of equity share capital and other equity

Non-Resident

A person resident outside India, as defined under FEMA and includes NRIs, FPIs and FVCls

“Non-Resident Indians” or | A non-resident Indian as defined under the FEMA Rules
“NRI(s)”

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited
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Term

Description

“OCB” or “Overseas Corporate
Body”

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or indirectly to the extent of
at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts, in which not less than 60% of beneficial interest is
irrevocably held by NRIs directly or indirectly and which was in existence on October 3, 2003 and
immediately before such date had taken benefits under the general permission granted to OCBs under
FEMA and which was de-recognised through the Foreign Exchange Management (Withdrawal of
General Permission to Overseas Corporate Bodies (OCBs)) Regulations, 2003. OCBs are not allowed
to invest in the Offer

p.a. Per annum

P/E Price/earnings

P/E Ratio Price to Earnings Ratio

PAN Permanent Account Number

PAT Profit after tax

RBI Reserve Bank of India

Regulation S Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act
RoNW Return on Net Worth

Rule 144A Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act

SCRA Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956
SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957
SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the SEBI Act
SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI BTI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Bankers to an Issue) Regulations, 1994

SEBI FPI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2019

SEBI ICDR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2018

SEBI Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015

SEBI
Regulations

Merchant Bankers

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992

SEBI Takeover Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers)
Regulations, 2011

State Government

The government of a state in India

Stock Exchanges

BSE and NSE

STT Securities Transaction Tax
TAN Tax deduction account number
TDSAT Telecom Disputes Settlement and Appellate Tribunal

U.S. Securities Act

U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended

“U.S.” or “USA” or “United States”

United States of America including its territories and possessions, any State of the United States, and
the District of Columbia

“U.S. GAAP” Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States
“USD” or “US$” United States Dollars
VCFs Venture capital funds as defined in and registered with the SEBI under the Securities and Exchange

Board of India (Venture Capital Fund) Regulations, 1996 or the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012, as the case may be

“Year” or “Calendar Year”

Unless the context otherwise requires, shall mean the 12 month period commencing from January 1
and ending on December 31
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SUMMARY OF THE OFFER DOCUMENT

The following is a general summary of the terms of the Offer and is not exhaustive, nor does it purport to contain a summary
of the disclosures in this Red Herring Prospectus or all details relevant to prospective investors. This summary should be read
in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Red Herring
Prospectus, including “Risk Factors”, “The Offer”, “Capital Structure ”, “Objects of the Offer ”, “Industry Overview”, “Our
Business”, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments ”, “Offer Procedure”
and “Description of Equity Shares and Terms of the Articles of Association ” beginning on pages 23, 49, 64, 75, 105, 124, 204,

604, 675 and 691, respectively.
Primary Business of our Company

Through our pan India network, we offer voice, data, enterprise and other value-added services, including short messaging
services and digital services across 2G, 3G and 4G technologies. We also offer connectivity services to enterprise customers.
We hold active licenses for national long distance, international long distance, internet service provider and registration for
infrastructure provider (IP-1) services. We carry inter-service area voice traffic and incoming and outgoing international voice
traffic on our network, which is facilitated through interconnections with our active licenses. Our Promoters are part of the
Aditya Birla group and the VVodafone group. For further details, see “Our Business” on page 124.

Industry in which our Company operates

The mobile telecommunications industry is an integral part of the Indian economy and has contributed to the economic growth
and the GDP of the country. The mobile telecommunications industry in India is divided into 22 service areas — three metro
service areas, and 19 other service areas. These other service areas are further categorized into circles based on the relevant
degree of affluence, infrastructure development and revenue potential across each service area. Furthermore, mobile broadband
is the primary medium to access internet in India, and penetration of smartphones in India has been increasing. For further
details, see “Industry Overview” on page 105.

For further information, see “Industry Overview” and “Our Business” beginning on pages 105 and 124, respectively.
Our Promoters

Our Promoters are Kumar Mangalam Birla, Hindalco Industries Limited, Grasim Industries Limited, Birla TMT Holdings
Private Limited, Vodafone International Holdings B.V., Al-Amin Investments Limited, Asian Telecommunication Investments
(Mauritius) Limited, CCIl (Mauritius), Inc., Euro Pacific Securities Ltd, Vodafone Telecommunications (India) Limited,
Mobilvest, Prime Metals Ltd, Trans Crystal Ltd, Omega Telecom Holdings Private Limited and Usha Martin Telematics
Limited. For details, see “Our Promoters and Promoter Group” beginning on page 177.

Offer Size

The following table summarizes the details of the Offer. For further details, see “The Offer” and “Offer Structure” beginning
on pages 49 and 673, respectively.

| Offer of Equity Shares® | Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each aggregating up to 180,000 million |
(1) The Offer has been authorised by a resolution of our Board at their meeting held on February 27, 2024 and a special resolution passed by our Shareholders
at their meeting held on April 2, 2024.

The Offer shall constitute [#]% of the post-Offer paid up equity share capital of our Company.
Objects of the Offer

Our Company proposes to utilise the Net Proceeds towards funding the following objects:

Objects Estimated Amount
(in T million)
Purchase of equipment for the expansion of our network infrastructure by: (a) setting up new 4G sites; (b) 127,500.00
expanding the capacity of existing 4G Sites and new 4G sites; and (b) setting up new 5G sites
Payment of certain deferred payments for spectrum to the DoT and the GST thereon 21,753.18
General corporate purposes® [o]
Net Proceeds® [o]

(1) Subject to the finalization of the Basis of Allotment and the Allotment of the Equity Shares. The amount utilised for general corporate purposes shall not
exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds.

For further details, see “Objects of the Offer”” beginning on page 75.
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Aggregate pre-Offer shareholding of our Promoters and members of the Promoter Group

Category of Shareholders Number of Equity Shares % of pre-Offer paid up Equity
Share capital on a fully diluted
basis*
Promoters
Kumar Mangalam Birla 864,906 Negligible
Hindalco Industries Limited 751,119,164 1.49
Grasim Industries Limited 3,317,566,167 6.60
Birla TMT Holdings Private Limited 353,798,538 0.70
Vodafone International Holdings B.V. Nil NA
Al-Amin Investments Limited 812,744,186 1.62
Asian Telecommunication Investments (Mauritius) Limited 980,469,868 1.95
CCII (Mauritius), Inc. 446,059,752 0.89
Euro Pacific Securities Ltd 5,593,277,865 11.12
Vodafone Telecommunications (India) Limited 1,624,511,788 3.23
Mobilvest 1,675,994,466 3.33
Prime Metals Ltd 2,756,484,727 5.49
Trans Crystal Ltd 1,461,143,311 2.90
Omega Telecom Holdings Private Limited 279,017,784 0.55
Usha Martin Telematics Limited 91,123,113 0.18
Sub-Total (A) 20,144,175,635 40.06
Promoter Group (other than our Promoters)
Elaine Investments Pte. Ltd. 861,128,643 1.71
Oriana Investments Pte. Ltd.® 2,993,171,886 5.95
IGH Holdings Private Limited 407,528,454 0.81
Pilani Investment and Industries Corporation Limited 109,028,530 0.22
Sub-Total (B) 4,370,857,513 8.69
Total (A+B) 24,515,033,148 48.75

*Assuming full conversion of 1,600 OCDs held by ATC Telecom Infrastructure Private Limited into 160,000,000 Equity Shares and issuance of 383,726 Equity
Shares upon exercise of vested options and restricted stock units under ESOS 2013. For details, see “Capital Structure” beginning on page 64.

(1) Our Board has, in its meeting held on April 6, 2024, approved the issuance of up to 1,395,427,034 Equity Shares at an issue price of ¥14.87 per Equity
Share, aggregating to ¥20,750 million, to one of the entities forming part of our Promoter Group, namely Oriana Investments Pte. Ltd, on a preferential basis,
in accordance with Chapter V of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The proposed issuance is subject to the approval of our Shareholders.

For further details of the offer, see “Capital Structure” beginning on page 64.
Summary of Selected Financial Information

The following details of the Equity Share capital, net worth, revenue from operations, profit/(loss) after tax, basic and diluted
earnings per Equity Share, net asset value per Equity Share and total borrowings as at and for the nine months ended December
31, 2023, and December 31, 2022 and as at and for the Fiscals ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 are
derived from the Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated

Financial Statements, as applicable.
(in ¥ million, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at and for the | As at and for the As at and for the Financial Year ended
nine months ended | nine months ended March 31, March 31, March 31,
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2023 2022 2021
20220

Equity Share capital 486,797 321,188 486,797 321,188 287,354

Net Worth (979,319) (847,096) (743,591) (619,648) (382,280)

Revenue from operations 320,449 316,453 421,772 385,155 419,522

Profit/(Loss) after tax (235,638) (231,870) (293,011) (282,454) (442,331)

Basic Earnings/ (Loss) per Equity Share (4.84) (7.16) (8.43) (9.83) (15.40)

(in%)

Diluted Earnings / (Loss) per Equity Share (4.84) (7.16) (8.43) (9.83) (15.40)

(in%)

Net Asset Value per Equity Share (in %)@ (20.12) (26.17) (21.40) (21.56) (13.30)

Total borrowings® 2,034,257 2,111,308 2,015,860 1,909,177 1,803,103

Notes:

)

for the nine months period ended December 31, 2022.

@
©)]

as at the period / year end.

Total Borrowing represents sum total of Long term borrowings and Short term borrowings.

Numbers forming part of this financial period are derived from the Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as at and

Net asset value per Equity Share is computed as total assets less total liabilities, divided by the weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding

In relation to the table above, Basic and Diluted EPS for the period ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are not

annualised.

Qualifications of the Statutory Auditors which have not been given effect to in the Consolidated Financial Statements

There are no auditors’ qualifications which have not been given effect to in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our
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Statutory Auditors have, however, included certain qualifications or adverse remarks in the annexure to their auditor’s reports
on the consolidated financial statements for Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021. For details, see “Risk Factors — Our Statutory
Auditors have included certain qualifications or adverse remarks in the annexure to their Auditor’s reports on the consolidated
financial statements for the Financial Years 2023 and 2022 issued under the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020. If
similar comments are included in the Statutory Auditors’ reports or their annexures for our financial statements in the future,
the trading price of our Equity Shares may be adversely affected. ” on page 29. Further, the audit and review reports of the
statutory auditors of our Company contain a material uncertainty relating to going concern. For details, see “Risk Factors — The
audit and review reports of the statutory auditors of our Company contain a material uncertainty relating to going concern.
There can be no assurance that any similar observations or remarks will not form part of the financial statements of our
Company, or that such remarks will not affect our financial condition. ” on page 23.

Summary of Outstanding Litigation
A summary of outstanding litigation proceedings involving our Company, Subsidiaries, Promoters and Directors as on the date

of this Red Herring Prospectus as disclosed in “Outstanding Litigation and Other Material Developments™ beginning on page
604 in terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations is provided below:

Name of entity Criminal Tax proceedings| Statutory or Disciplinary Material civil Aggregate
proceedings regulatory actions by the litigations*  |amount involved
proceedings | SEBI or Stock (% in million)”
Exchanges
against our
Promoters in the
last five Fiscals
Company
By our Company 28 Nil Nil NA Nil 24.16
Against our Company 79 2,349 174 NA Nil 615,085
Subsidiaries
By our Subsidiaries Nil Nil Nil NA Nil Nil
Against our Subsidiaries Nil 145 Nil NA Nil 2,463
Promoters
By our Promoters 17 Nil Nil Nil Nil 58.87
Against our Promoters 53 676 26 Nil 1 127,614.06"
Directors
By our Directors Nil Nil Nil NA Nil Nil
IAgainst our Directors 11 Nil 7 NA 1 Nil

In accordance with the Materiality Policy.
*To the extent quantifiable.
" Includes ¥700 million paid under protest to Madhya Pradesh Power Transmission Company Limited.

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, there is no outstanding litigation involving our Group Companies, which may
have a material impact on our Company. For further details of the outstanding litigation proceedings, see “Outstanding
Litigation and Material Developments” beginning on page 604.

Risk Factors

Specific attention of the Bidders is invited to “Risk Factors” beginning on page 23.

Summary of Contingent Liabilities

The details of our contingent liabilities as per Ind AS 37 as at December 31, 2023 derived from our Special Purpose Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are set forth in the table below:

(< in million
S. No. | Particulars | As at December 31, 2023
Contingent Liabilities
A) Licensing Disputes
i) OTSC (Less than 4.4 MHz) 38,570
i) Other licensing disputes 97,794
B) Other Matters not acknowledged as debt
i) Income tax matters 4,834
i) Sales tax and entertainment tax matters 1,524
iii) Service tax/goods and service tax (GST) matters 14,823
iv) Entry tax and customs matters 5,567
V) Other claims 27,105

For details on contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2023, as per Ind AS 37, see “Special Purpose Interim Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements” on page 205.
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Summary of Related Party Transactions

A summary of related party transactions as per the requirements under Ind AS 24 — Related Party Disclosures entered into by
our Company with related parties as at and for the nine months ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022 and as at
and for the financial years ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 derived from the Special Purpose Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, as applicable are as follows:

(< in million, unless stated otherwise

Particulars Amount % of total revenue from operations
Nine Nine Year Year Year Nine Nine Year Year Year
months | months ended ended ended months | months ended ended ended
period period March March March period period March March March
ended ended 31,2023 | 31,2022 | 31,2021 | ended ended 31,2023 | 31,2022 | 31,2021
Decembe | Decembe Decembe | Decembe
r 31, r 31, r 31, r 31,
2023 2022 2023 2022
Transactions with related parties
Sale of service 2,055 1,546 2,121 1,837 3,280 1% - 1% - 1%
Purchase of 68,979 70,302 92,721 96,998 87,302 22% 22% 22% 25% 21%
Service
Remuneration 132 67 92 54 67 - - - - -
Directors' sitting 5 6 10 12 8 - - - - -
fees paid
Expense incurred 14 15 16 57 52 - - - - -
on behalf of
Expense incurred 18 - 2 - 53 - - - - -
on our Company's
behalf by
Receipt of money - - - - 19,748 - - - - 5%
towards
settlement asset
Issuance of share - 4,362 4,362 - - - 1% 1% - -
capital  against
warrants
Proceeds  from - - - 45,000 - - - - 12% -
allotment of
Equity Shares
Insurance 4 7 7 18 67 - - - - -
premium
(including
advance given)
Repayment  of - - - 8 - - - - - -
loan by
Dividend - - - 1,115 - - - - -
received
Donations 346 304 304 150 217 - - - - -
received
Interest income - - - - 1 - - - - -
on loan given
Security deposits - - 93 - - - - - - -
Received
Security deposit - - - - - - - - - -
Given
Sale of fixed 1 - - - - - - - - -
assets including
capital work in
progress
Contribution  to 4 200 - - - - - - - -
gratuity fund

The above transactions with the related parties are the summation of the transactions with Associates, entities having significant influence,
joint ventures, KMP, promoters/ promoter group and other related parties in which directors are interested.

For details of the related party transactions, see “Other Financial Information — Related Party Transactions” on page 570.

Weighted average price at which Equity Shares were acquired by the Promoters of our Company

The weighted average price at which Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters in the last three years preceding the date
of this Red Herring Prospectus is as follows:

Name

No. of Equity Shares acquired in the last
three years

Weighted average price of Equity Shares
acquired in the last three years*

Euro Pacific Securities Ltd

2,394,291,759

12.75
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Name No. of Equity Shares acquired in the last | Weighted average price of Equity Shares
three years acquired in the last three years*

Prime Metals Ltd 570,958,646 13.30
*As certified by Suresh Surana & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated April 11, 2024.

The weighted average price at which Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters in the last 18 months preceding the date of
this Red Herring Prospectus is as follows:

Name No. of Equity Shares acquired in last Weighted average price of Equity Shares
18 months acquired in the last 18 months*
Euro Pacific Securities Ltd 427,656,421 10.20

*As certified by Suresh Surana & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated April 11, 2024.

No Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters in the last one year preceding the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.
Weighted average price at which the Equity Shares were acquired by the selling shareholders

There are no selling shareholders as the Offer is a fresh issue of Equity Shares.

Average cost of acquisition for the Promoters

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares acquired by the Promoters, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus is:

Name of the Promoter Number of Equity Shares held Average cost of Acquisition per
Equity Share (in 3)*

Kumar Mangalam Birla 864,906 27.86
Hindalco Industries Limited 751,119,164 11.74
Grasim Industries Limited 3,317,566,167 16.32
Birla TMT Holdings Private Limited 353,798,538 24.59
Vodafone International Holdings B.V. Nil NA
Al-Amin Investments Limited 812,744,186 24.36
Asian Telecommunication Investments (Mauritius) 980,469,868 24.36
Limited

CCII (Mauritius), Inc. 446,059,752 24.36
Euro Pacific Securities Ltd 5,593,277,865 18.13
Vodafone Telecommunications (India) Limited 1,624,511,788 24.36
Mobilvest 1,675,994,466 24.36
Prime Metals Ltd 2,756,484,727 22.07
Trans Crystal Ltd 1,461,143,311 24.36
Omega Telecom Holdings Private Limited 279,017,784 51.50
Usha Martin Telematics Limited 91,123,113 51.50

“As certified by Suresh Surana & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated April 11, 2024.

Details of price at which Equity Shares were acquired in the last three years preceding the date of this Red Herring
Prospectus by our Promoters, members of Promoter Group and the other shareholders with rights to nominate directors
or have other rights, are disclosed below:

Name of the acquirer/Shareholder Date of allotment/ Number of Acquisition price Nature of acquisition
acquisition of Equity | equity shares | per equity share
Shares acquired (in 3)*
Promoters
Euro Pacific Securities Ltd March 31, 2022 1,966,635,338 13.30 | Further allotment pursuant to
preferential allotment
February 14, 2023 427,656,421 10.20 | Further allotment pursuant to

conversion of warrants to
Equity Shares

Total 2,394,291,759 12.75
Prime Metals Ltd March 31, 2022 570,958,646 13.30 | Further allotment pursuant to
preferential allotment

Total 570,958,646 13.30

Promoter Group (other than our Promoters)
Oriana Investments Pte. Ltd. March 31, 2022 845,864,661 13.30 | Further allotment pursuant to
preferential allotment

Total 845,864,661 13.30
Other Shareholders with nominee director rights or other rights

Nil
" As certified by Suresh Surana & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated April 11, 2024.
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Weighted average cost of acquisition of all Equity Shares transacted in the one year, 18 months and three years
preceding the date of this Red Herring Prospectus

The weighted average cost of acquisition of all Equity Shares transacted in (a) the one year preceding the date of this Red
Herring Prospectus; (b) the 18 months preceding the date of this Red Herring Prospectus; and (c) the three years preceding the
date of this Red Herring Prospectus, are as follows*:

Period Weighted average cost of Range of acquisition Cap Price is ‘X’ times the
acquisition per Equity Share price: Lowest Price — Weighted Average Cost of
(in%) Highest Price Acquisition”
(in%)

Last one year preceding the date of this 12.13 6.01-18.42 [e]
Red Herring Prospectus
Last 18 months preceding the date of 10.50 5.70-18.42 [e]
this Red Herring Prospectus
Last three years preceding the date of 10.24 4.55-18.42 [e]
this Red Herring Prospectus

#To be updated once the Price Band information is available.
*We are not aware of any off-market secondary transactions of Equity Shares.

Issue of Equity Shares made in the last one year for consideration other than cash

Except as disclosed in the section “Capital Structure” beginning on page 64, our Company has not issued any Equity Shares
for consideration other than cash in the one year preceding the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Split or consolidation of Equity Shares in the last one year

Our Company has not undertaken split or consolidation of the Equity Shares of our Company in the last one year preceding the
date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Size of the pre-FPO placement and allottees, upon completion of the placement
Our Company is not contemplating any pre-FPO placement.
Financing Arrangements

There have been no financing arrangements whereby the Promoters, members of our Promoter Group, our Directors or any of
their relatives, have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company (other than in the normal course
of business of the relevant financing entity) during a period of six months immediately preceding the date of filing of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

Exemptions from complying with any provision of securities laws, if any, granted by the SEBI

1. Our Company had filed an exemption application dated January 25, 2019 with SEBI under Regulation 300(1)(c) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations, seeking an exemption from classifying and disclosing Neerja Birla’s (our Promoter Kumar
Mangalam Birla’s wife) parents and brothers (namely, the father Shambhukumar S. Kasliwal, the mother Rajkumari S.
Kasliwal and the brothers Vikas S. Kasliwal, Nitin S. Kasliwal and Mukul S. Kasliwal, together referred to as the
“Ildentified Relatives”) and any body corporate(s) in which they hold 20% or more of the equity share capital or any
firm or HUF in which they are partner / member, and any such body corporate(s) holding 20% or more of the equity
share capital in other body corporate(s), or in case any of the Identified Relatives (in aggregate) holding 20% or more of
the share of any firm or Hindu Undivided Family (collectively referred to as the “Related Entities”), as members of our
Promoter Group in the letter of offer filed in respect of the rights issue undertaken by our Company in 2019. Pursuant
to its letter dated February 15, 2019 bearing reference no. CFD/DIL-1I/ADM/AB/OW/2019/4363/1, SEBI has granted
an exemption in relation to the foregoing (“2019 Exemption”). Subsequently, our Company had sought a confirmation
from the NSE, by way of a letter dated March 20, 2024, on the 2019 Exemption holding good for the Offer. The NSE
by way of its communication dated April 3, 2024, has confirmed that, subject to certain conditions, the 2019 Application
holds good for the Offer.
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS, PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL, INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA
Certain Conventions

All references to “India” contained in this Red Herring Prospectus are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions
and all references herein to the “Government”, “Indian Government”, “Gol”, “Central Government” or the “State Government”
are to the Government of India, central or state, as applicable.

Unless otherwise specified, any time mentioned in this Red Herring Prospectus is in Indian Standard Time (“IST”). Unless
indicated otherwise, all references to a ‘year’ in this Red Herring Prospectus are to a calendar year.

Unless stated otherwise, all references to page humbers are to the page numbers of this Red Herring Prospectus.
Financial Data

Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the financial information and financial ratios in this Red Herring
Prospectus have been derived from the Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements, as applicable. For further information, see “Consolidated Financial Statements” beginning
on page 204.

We have included the Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements in this document (collectively, referred to as the “Consolidated Financial Statements”). For further
information, see “Consolidated Financial Statements” beginning on page 204.

Our Company’s financial year commences on April 1 and ends on March 31 of the next year. Accordingly, all references in
this Red Herring Prospectus to a particular FY, Financial Year, Fiscal or Fiscal Year, unless stated otherwise, are to the 12-
month period ended on March 31 of that particular calendar year. Financial information for nine months ended December 31,
2023 and 2022 is not indicative of annual financial results and are not comparable with annual financial statements

There are significant differences between Ind AS, U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Our Company does not provide reconciliation of its
financial information to IFRS or U.S. GAAP. Our Company has not attempted to explain those differences or quantify their
impact on the financial data included in this Red Herring Prospectus and it is urged that you consult your own advisors regarding
such differences and their impact on our financial data. Accordingly, the degree to which the financial information included in
this Red Herring Prospectus will provide meaningful information is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with
Indian accounting policies and practices, the Companies Act, 2013, Ind AS and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by
persons not familiar with Indian accounting policies and practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Red Herring
Prospectus should, accordingly, be limited. For risks relating to significant differences between Ind AS and other accounting
principles, see “Risk Factors — Significant differences exist between Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as Indian
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and International Financial
Reporting Standards, which may be material to investors' assessments of our financial condition ” on page 44.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, any percentage amounts or ratios (excluding certain operational metrics), relating to the
financial information of our Company in this Red Herring Prospectus have been calculated on the basis of our Consolidated
Financial Statements, as applicable.

Our Statutory Auditors have provided no assurance or services related to any prospective financial information.
Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures

Certain non-GAAP measures such as EBITDA and EBITDA Margin, Net Asset Value per Equity Share and Net Worth and
Return on Net Worth (“Non-GAAP Measures”) presented in this Red Herring Prospectus are a supplemental measure of our
performance and liquidity that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, Ind AS, Indian GAAP, or IFRS. In
evaluating our business, we consider and use these Non-GAAP Measures as a supplemental measure to review and assess our
operating performance. The presentation of these Non-GAAP Measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for the Consolidated Financial Statements. We present these Non-GAAP Measures because they are used by us to
evaluate our operating performance. These Non-GAAP Measures are not defined under Ind AS and are not presented in
accordance with Ind AS. The Non-GAAP Measures have limitations as analytical tools. Further, these Non-GAAP Measures
may differ from the similar information used by other companies, including peer companies, and hence their comparability may
be limited. Therefore, these metrics should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to Ind AS measures of
performance or as an indicator of our operating performance, liquidity, profitability or results of operation. The principal
limitation of these Non-GAAP Measures is that they exclude significant expenses that are required by Ind AS to be recorded in
our financial statements, as further detailed in the reconciliation of each Non-GAAP Measure to the most directly comparable
Ind AS measure in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on
page 577. Although these Non-GAAP Measures are not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, our Company’s management believes that it provides an additional tool for investors to use in evaluating
our ongoing operating results and trends and in comparing our financial results with other companies in our industry because it
provides consistency and comparability with past financial performance, when taken collectively with financial measures
prepared in accordance with Ind AS.
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Investors are encouraged to review the related Ind AS financial measures and the reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures to
their most directly comparable Ind AS financial measures and to not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our
business.

Currency and Units of Presentation
All references to:

“Rupees” or “X” or “INR” or “Rs.” are to Indian Rupee, the official currency of the Republic of India; and
“U.S.D.” or “USD” or “$” “US$” are to United States Dollars, the official currency of the United States of America.
“GBP” or “£” are to British Pound Sterling, the official currency of the United Kingdom;

“Euro” or “€” are to Euro, the official currency of certain member states of the European Union;

“MYR” are to Malaysian Ringgit, the official currency of Malaysia;

“ZAR” are to South African Rand, the official currency of the Republic of South Africa;

“KES” are to Kenyan Shilling, the official currency of the Republic of Kenya;

“TRY” are to Turkish Lira, the official currency of the Republic of Turkey;

“ALL” are to Albanian Lek, the official currency of the Republic of Albania;

“CDF” are to Congolese Franc, the official currency of the Democratic Republic of the Congo;

“GHS” are to Ghanaian Cedi, the official currency of the Republic of Ghana; and

. “IDR” are to Indonesian Rupiah, the official currency of the Republic of Indonesia.

Our Company has presented certain numerical information in this Red Herring Prospectus in “million” units. One million
represents 1,000,000 and one billion represents 1,000,000,000. However, where any figures that may have been sourced from
third-party industry sources are expressed in denominations other than millions, such figures appear in this Red Herring
Prospectus in such denominations as provided in the respective sources.

In this Red Herring Prospectus, any discrepancies in any table between the total and the sums of the amounts listed are due to
rounding off. Due to such rounding off, in certain instances, the sum or percentage change of such numbers may not conform
exactly to the total figure given. However, where any figures may have been sourced from third-party industry sources, such
figures may be rounded off to such number of decimal places as provided in such respective sources.

Exchange Rates

This Red Herring Prospectus contains conversion of certain other currency amounts into Indian Rupees that have been presented
solely to comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. These conversions should not be construed as a representation that these
currency amounts could have been, or can be converted into Indian Rupees, at any particular rate or at all.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information with respect to the exchange rate between the Rupee and
the other currencies:

(Amount in )
Currency As at December 31, | As at December 31, | As at March 31, As at March 31, As at March 31,
2023* 20228 2023 2022 2021

1US$ 83.19 82.72 82.11 75.90 73.16
1 GBP 105.92 100.11 101.55 99.82 100.95
1 Euro 91.83 88.78 89.27 84.21 85.92
1 MYR 18.12 18.79 18.56 18.05 17.66
1ZAR 4.54 4.86 4.62 5.19 4.95
1 KES 1.8892 1.4921 1.6123 1.5141 1.4951
1TRY 2.81 4.42 4.27 5.16 8.84
1ALL 1.1257 1.2946 1.2692 1.4417 1.4332
1 CDF 32.85 24,78 25.07 26.46 27.11
1 GHS 0.14 0.10 0.14 0.10 0.08
1IDR 0.005 0.005 0.005 0.005 0.005

*Since December 31, 2023 and December 30, 2023 were holidays, the conversion rate as on December 29, 2023 is provided.
$ Since December 31 2022 was a holiday, the conversion rate as on December 30, 2022 is provided.

Sources:

(1)  https://www.x-rates.com/historical/?from=INR&amount=1&date=2023-12-31,

(2)  https://www.exchangerates.org.uk/INR-ALL-31_12_2023-exchange-rate-history.html
(3)  https://www.exchangerates.org.uk/INR-KES-31_03_2023-exchange-rate-history.html
(4)  https://cuex.com/en/inr-cdf
(5) https://cuex.com/en/inr-ghs

Industry and Market Data

Unless stated otherwise, industry and market data used in this Red Herring Prospectus has been obtained or derived from
publicly available information as well as industry publications and sources. Industry publications generally state that the
information contained in those publications has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but that their accuracy,
adequacy, completeness or underlying assumptions are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Although the
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industry and market data used in this Red Herring Prospectus is reliable, the data used in these sources may have been re-
classified by us for the purposes of presentation. Data from these sources may also not be comparable.

Industry sources and publications are also prepared based on information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or
reflect current trends. Industry sources and publications may also base their information on estimates and assumptions that may
prove to be incorrect. The extent to which the industry and market data presented in this Red Herring Prospectus is meaningful
depends upon the reader’s familiarity with, and understanding of, the methodologies used in compiling such information. There
are no standard data gathering methodologies in the industry in which our Company conducts business and methodologies and
assumptions may vary widely among different market and industry sources. Such data involves risks, uncertainties and
numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various factors, including those disclosed in “Risk Factors™ beginning
on page 23.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, “Basis for Offer Price” beginning on page 85 includes information relating to
our peer group companies. Such information has been derived from publicly available sources specified herein. Accordingly,
no investment decision should be made solely on the basis of such information.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United States

The Equity Shares have not been recommended by any U.S. federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority,
including the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not
confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this Red Herring Prospectus or approved or disapproved the Equity
Shares. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States. In making an investment decision, investors
must rely on their own examination of our Company and the terms of the Offer, including the merits and risks involved. The
Equity Shares offered in the Offer have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”) or any other applicable law of the United States and, unless so registered, may not be
offered or sold within the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. Accordingly, the Equity Shares are being offered
and sold (a) in the United States only to “qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act
and referred to in this Red Herring Prospectus as “U.S. QIBs”) under Section 4(a) of the U.S. Securities Act and (b) outside
the United States in an “offshore transaction” as defined in and in compliance with Regulation S and the applicable laws of the
jurisdiction where those offers and sales occur. For the avoidance of doubt, the term “U.S. QIBs” does not refer to a category
of institutional investors defined under applicable Indian regulations and referred to in this Red Herring Prospectus as “QIBs”.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Red Herring Prospectus contains certain “forward-looking statements”. These forward-looking statements generally can
be identified by words or phrases such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “are likely”, “believe”, “continue”, “can”, “could”, “expect”,
“gstimate”, “intend”, “may”, “likely”, “objective”, “plan”, “propose”, “project”, “seek”, “shall”, “will”, “will achieve”, “will
continue”, “will likely”, “will pursue” or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our
strategies, objectives, plans or goals are also forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks,
uncertainties, expectations and assumptions about us that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated
by the relevant forward-looking statement. All statements in this Red Herring Prospectus that are not statements of historical
fact are “forward-looking statements’.

Actual results may differ materially from those suggested by forward-looking statements due to risks or uncertainties associated
with expectations relating to and including, regulatory changes pertaining to the industries in India in which we operate and our
ability to respond to them, our ability to successfully implement our strategy, our growth and expansion, technological changes,
our exposure to market risks, general economic and political conditions in India and globally which have an impact on its
business activities or investments, the monetary and fiscal policies of India, inflation, deflation, unanticipated turbulence in
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices or other rates or prices, the performance of the financial markets in India
and globally, changes in laws, regulations and taxes and changes in competition in the industries in which we operate.

Certain important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited
to, the following:

. Our Company has a material uncertainty relating to going concern and our Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern is dependent on its ability to raise additional funds as required and successful negotiations with lenders and
vendors for continued support and generation of cash flow from its operations that it needs to settle its liabilities as
they fall due;

. If we do not continue to provide telecommunications or related services that are technologically up to date or keep up
with changing consumer preferences, we may not remain competitive;

. We require significant capital to fund our capital expenditure and working capital requirements;

. Our Company has incurred significant indebtedness and has not complied with certain covenants under its financing
agreements; and

o Our telecommunication licenses and spectrum allocations are subject to terms and conditions, ongoing review and
varying interpretations, each of which may result in modification, suspension, early termination, expiry on completion
of the term or additional payments.

For further details regarding factors that could cause actual results to differ from expectations, see “Risk Factors”, “Industry
Overview”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
beginning on pages 23, 105, 124 and 577, respectively. By their nature, certain market risk disclosures are only estimates and
could be materially different from what actually occurs in the future. As a result, actual gains or losses could materially differ
from those that have been estimated.

There can be no assurance to Bidders that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements will prove to be correct.
Given these uncertainties, Bidders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements and not to
regard such statements to be a guarantee of our future performance.

Forward-looking statements reflect current views of our Company as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus and are not a
guarantee of future performance. These statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions, which in turn are
based on currently available information. Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward-looking statements
are based are reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate, and the forward-looking statements based on
these assumptions could be incorrect. Neither our Company, our Directors, our Key Management Personnel, our Subsidiaries,
our Associates, the Syndicate nor any of their respective affiliates have any obligation to update or otherwise revise any
statements reflecting circumstances arising after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of underlying events, even if the
underlying assumptions do not come to fruition.

In accordance with the requirements of SEBI, our Company shall ensure that investors are informed of material developments

from the date of this Red Herring Prospectus in relation to the statements and undertakings made by it in this Red Herring
Prospectus until the time of the grant of listing and trading permission by the Stock Exchanges for the Offer.
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SECTION II: RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Equity Shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider all the information in this Red
Herring Prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an investment in the Equity Shares.
The risks described below are not the only ones relevant to us or our Equity Shares and the industry in which we currently
operate or propose to operate in India. Additional risks and uncertainties, not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also impair our businesses, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. If any of the following
risks, or other risks that are not currently known or are currently deemed immaterial, actually occur, our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows could suffer, the trading price of our Equity Shares could decline, and you may
lose all or part of your investment. To obtain a complete understanding of our business and operations, prospective investors
should read this section in conjunction with “Industry Overview”, “Our Business”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, “Key Industry Regulations and Policies  and “Government and Other
Approvals” on pages 105, 124, 577, 139 and 649, respectively, as well as the financial, statistical and other information
contained in this Red Herring Prospectus.

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of our business and operations and
the terms of the Offer, including the merits and risks involved. You should consult your tax, financial and legal advisors about
the particular consequences to you of an investment in our Equity Shares. Unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk
factors below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial or other implications of any of the risks described in this section.

Unless otherwise stated and unless the context otherwise requires, the financial information used in this section is based on the
Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated Financial Statement, as
applicable. For further information, see “Audited Consolidated Financial Statements” and “Special Purpose Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” on pages 288 and 205, respectively.

Unless the context otherwise requires, in this section, references to “the Company”, or “our Company” refer to Vodafone Idea
Limited on a standalone basis while “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Vodafone Idea Limited on a consolidated basis.

This Red Herring Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, assumptions, estimates and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward- looking statements as a result
of certain factors, including the considerations described below and elsewhere in this Red Herring Prospectus. See “Forward-
Looking Statements” on page 22.

Risks relating to our business

1. The audit and review reports of the statutory auditors of our Company contain a paragraph on material uncertainty
relating to going concern. There can be no assurance that any similar observations or remarks will not form part of
the financial statements of our Company, or that such remarks will not affect our financial condition.

Our statutory auditors have considered our financial condition as of December 31, 2023 and our debt obligations due for
the next 12 months and have noted that our financial performance has impacted our ability to generate the cash flow that
we need to settle and refinance our liabilities as they fall due.

Our statutory auditors have observed a material uncertainty related to going concern in their review reports for the nine
months ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and audit reports for the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and
2021. The observation of our statutory auditors in their review report for the nine months ended December 31, 2023, is
as follows:

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to raise additional funds as required and
successful negotiations with lenders and vendors for continued support and generation of cash flow from its operations
that it needs to settle its liabilities as they fall due.

Following the completion of the Offer, we will raise proceeds amounting to X[e]. However, there can be no assurance

that any similar observations or remarks will not form part of the financial statements of our Company or our Subsidiaries
in the future, or that such remarks will not affect our financial condition.
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If we do not continue to provide telecommunications or related services that are technologically up to date or keep up
with changing consumer preferences, we may not remain competitive, and our business, prospects, results of
operations and cash flows may be adversely affected.

The telecommunications industry is characterized by technological changes, including an increasing pace of change in
existing mobile systems, industry standards, customer demand and behaviour and ongoing improvements in the capacity
and quality of network. As new technologies develop, our equipment and networks may need to be replaced or upgraded,
or our networks may need to be rebuilt in whole or in part in order to sustain our competitive position in the Indian
mobile telecommunications industry. As a result, we may require substantial capital expenditure and access to related
technologies in order to integrate new technologies with our existing technologies and networks and phase out outdated
and unprofitable technologies and networks. For details on our capital expenditure incurred on new site rollout and site
upgradations, fibre rollouts, automation of process and development of new applications, see “—We require significant
capital to fund our capital expenditure and working capital requirements and if we are unable to raise additional capital,
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected” on page 24.

If we are unable to modify our networks and equipment on a timely and cost effective basis, we may lose subscribers,
which may have an adverse impact on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Deployment of new technologies such as 5G and 6G involves significant additional resources and capital expenditure.
Furthermore, high-speed data services, innovative mobile applications, over-the-top media services and fixed wireless
access have emerged as key competitive factors for subscribers in India. We may not be able to provide these services or
expand our offerings in a manner that enables us to compete effectively in the Indian telecom sector. If the costs associated
with new technologies are higher than anticipated, our business, financial condition and results of operation may be
adversely affected. In addition, we face the risk of unforeseen complications in the deployment of new services, networks
and technologies, and we cannot assure you that these new technologies will be commercially successful. Our results of
operations would also suffer if our new services and products are not well-received by our subscribers, are not
appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not effectively brought to market. To the extent we do not keep
pace with technological advances or fail to respond in a timely manner to changes in the competitive environment
affecting our industry, we could lose market share or experience a decline in our business, prospects, results of operations
and cash flows.

We require significant capital to fund our capital expenditure and working capital requirements and if we are unable
to raise additional capital, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely
affected.

We operate in a capital-intensive industry with relatively long gestation periods. Our funding requirements are primarily
towards purchase of certain equipment for the expansion of our network infrastructure by setting up new 4G sites,
expanding the capacity of existing 4G sites and new 4G sites, and setting up new 5G sites. For details, see “Objects of
the Offer” on page 75. However, the actual amount and timing of our future capital requirements may differ from our
estimates as a result of, among other things, unforeseen delays or cost overruns, future cash flows being less than
anticipated, price increases, unanticipated expenses, imposition of taxes, regulatory and technological changes,
limitations on spectrum availability, market developments and new opportunities in the industry.

The table below sets out details of our capital expenditure (including capital expenditure on property, plant and
equipment, bandwidth, capital work-in-progress, intangible assets, and excluding expenditure incurred on right of use
assets and spectrum), for the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and
2021:

Particulars For the nine months For the nine For the For the For the
ended December 31, months ended Financial Year | Financial Year | Financial Year
2023 December 31, 2022 2023 2022 2021
Capital expenditure 13,049 27,965 33,565 44,914 41,513
(including capital

expenditure on property,
plant and equipment,
bandwidth, capital work-
in-progress, intangible
assets, and excluding
expenditure incurred on
right of use assets and
spectrum) (in X million)

The financing required for such investments may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all and we may be
restricted by our existing or future financing arrangements. Furthermore, if we raise additional funds through the
incurrence of debt, our interest obligations will increase, which could affect our profitability and other financial
measures. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or equity linked instruments, your ownership
interest in our Company may be diluted.
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We have in the past and may continue in the future to rely on financial support from our Promoters, Shareholders and
related parties and we cannot assure you that such financial support will continue to be available on acceptable terms or
at all. Our ability to finance our capital expenditure plans is also subject to a number of risks, contingencies and other
factors, some of which are beyond our control, including borrowing or lending restrictions under applicable laws and
general economic and market conditions.

Prudential norms, including single and group borrower concentration limits prescribed by the RBI to bank lenders in
India may restrict our ability to seek additional credit facilities from our current bank lenders to fund our business
requirements in the future. Therefore, we may be required to maintain multiple banking relationships on an ongoing
basis, or enter into new banking relationships in the future. We cannot assure you that new bank credit facilities will be
available to us in a timely manner, on commercially viable terms, or at all. Any inability to obtain sufficient financing
could result in the delay or abandonment of our development and expansion plans, the failure to meet roll-out obligations
pursuant to our licenses or our inability to continue to provide appropriate levels of service in all or a portion of our
service areas, which may lead to penalties or loss of license.

Our Company has incurred significant indebtedness and has not complied with certain covenants under its financing

agreements. Our inability to meet our obligations, including financial and other covenants, under our debt financing
arrangements could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

As of February 29, 2024, our borrowings were as follows:

(in Z million)
Particulars As of February 29, 2024
Optionally Convertible Debentures® 16,000
Debt From Banks and Financial Institutions 44,193
Adjusted Gross Revenue (“AGR”) Liability 651,107
Deferred Spectrum Payment Obligations (“DPO”) 1,306,991
Total Indebtedness 2,018,291

@ Prior to conversion of 14,400 optionally convertible debentures into 1,440,000,000 Equity Shares of face value of 10 each issued to ATC
Telecom Infrastructure Private Limited on March 23, 2024.

Our obligations to the Government of India for AGR and DPO accounted for more than 97% of our borrowings, as of
February 29, 2024. On September 15, 2021, the Government of India announced a comprehensive telecom reform
package for the telecom sector (“Telecom Reform Package”) including measures to address structural, procedural and
liquidity issues faced by telecom providers in India. As part of the Telecom Reform Package, we opted for a four year
moratorium towards deferment of spectrum payment obligations related to spectrum auctions conducted until 2016 and
AGR dues until Financial Year 2019. Further, on January 10, 2022, our Board of Directors also approved the upfront
conversion of the full amount of interest arising due to deferment of spectrum instalments and AGR dues until Financial
Year 2017 into equity.

On February 7, 2023, we allotted 16.13 billion equity shares of the face value of 10 each at an issue price of 10 each
to the Government of India, pursuant to conversion of loan representing NPV of the interest related to deferment of
spectrum auction instalments and AGR dues until Financial Year 2017 into equity shares. Following the allotment, as
on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, the shareholding of the Government of India in our Company was 32.19%.
At the end of four year moratorium, we may not be able to meet our obligations, which could adversely affect our credit
rating, business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The moratorium period for the spectrum
payment obligations related to spectrum auctions conducted until 2016 ends between October 2025 to September 2026.
The moratorium period for AGR payments ends in March 2026.

For our spectrum payment obligations, we are required to provide bank guarantees at least 13 months prior to expiry of
the relevant moratorium period. The value of these instalment payments is 247,469 million (calculated on a yearly
basis). We will be required to arrange for bank guarantees at the relevant time or seek a waiver from DoT from providing
bank guarantees considering the fact that requirement for providing bank guarantees for the annual instalments has been
removed in the notice inviting applications (“NIA”) for spectrum in the 2022 spectrum auction as well as in the NIA for
the 2024 spectrum auction. In the event that we are unable to provide such bank guarantees at the relevant time, or at all,
or are unable to obtain a waiver from DoT, we could be in breach of the conditions of the notice inviting applications,
which could lead to encashment of our existing bank guarantees, or lead to liquidated damages being imposed, the
curtailment of any spectrum allocation to us, or any other remedy determined by the DoT.

Our annual cash obligation towards DPO for the spectrum acquired in the 2021 and 2022 spectrum auctions are 318,435
million. Following the expiration of the moratorium period, our cash flow obligation towards DPO and AGR dues will
amount to 3290,737 million for the Financial Year 2026 and 3430,185 million per year for the period from Financial
Year 2027 to Financial Year 2031. As per the Telecom Reform Package, the Government of India has the option to
convert the outstanding amount relating to the deferred payment of DPO and AGR dues by way of equity at the end of
the Moratorium.

Furthermore, in connection with our borrowings from banks and financial intuitions, we have entered into several
financing arrangements that contain provisions that restrict our ability to do, among other things, the following:
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. changes in the capital structure or shareholding pattern of our Company;

. undertaking guarantee obligations on behalf of any third party;

. change in the constitution of our Company;

o change in the management, including the composition of the board of directors of our Company;

. changes in the practice with respect to remuneration of directors by means of ordinary remuneration or
commission, scale of sitting fees;

. investment by way of share capital or extending loans or advances or placing deposits with any other entity
(including group companies and associate companies);

. declaration of dividend except out of profits relating to the financial year;

. carrying out any change of business; and

. transfer of assets.

Under the terms of our financing arrangements, we are required to obtain approvals and make intimations to our lenders
prior to undertaking any of these significant actions. We cannot assure you that our lenders will grant the required
approval in a timely manner, or at all. The time required to secure consents from our lenders may hinder us from taking
advantage of a dynamic market environment and may adversely affect our competitive position. For the purpose of the
Offer, our Company has received prior consent/ confirmations from our lenders, as required under the relevant loan
documents and intimated other lenders, as applicable for undertaking activities relating to the Offer including consequent
actions, such as change in our capital structure and changes in constitutional documents. In addition to the restrictions
listed above, we are required to maintain certain financial ratios under our financing arrangements. These financial ratios
and the restrictive provisions could limit our flexibility to engage in certain business transactions or activities, which
could put us at a competitive disadvantage and could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. As of February 29, 2024, we were not in compliance with certain financial covenants under our
financing arrangements. These include:

¢ the covenant relating to compliance of the net debt to net worth ratio in our Company’s term loan facility with
the State Bank of India under which the amount outstanding as of February 29, 2024 was 226,093 million;

e the covenant relating to compliance of the net debt to net worth ratio in our Company’s term loan facility with
Punjab National Bank under which the amount outstanding as of February 29, 2024 was <11,327 million;

e the covenant relating to compliance of the net debt to net worth ratio in our Company’s term loan facility with
Canara Bank under which the amount outstanding as of February 29, 2024 was 4,969 million; and

o the covenant relating to compliance of the net debt to EBITDA and interest coverage ratios in our Company’s
non-fund based bank guarantee facility with ICICI Bank under which the bank guarantee amount outstanding
as of February 29, 2024 was 32,488 million;

In addition to the above, we have not created security in respect to our term loan facility with IDFC Bank under which
the amount outstanding as of February 29, 2024 was 1,804 million

While we have not procured waivers under such financing arrangements, as of December 31, 2023, we have met all our
debt obligations to our lenders along with applicable interest.

In the event that we are unable to remedy defaults or obtain necessary waivers for any future non-compliances, in a
timely manner, or at all, one or more of our lenders may accelerate our obligations under the financing agreements and
seek to invoke or enforce their security interest in respect of such borrowings. Any failure to comply with a condition or
covenant under our financing agreements that is not waived by our lenders or is otherwise not cured by us may also
trigger cross default and cross acceleration provisions under certain of our other financing agreements and the relevant
lenders may take action such as requiring immediate repayment which may adversely affect our ability to conduct our
business.

Our telecommunication licenses and spectrum allocations are subject to terms and conditions, ongoing review and
varying interpretations, each of which may result in modification, suspension, early termination, expiry on completion
of the term or additional payments.

Our telecommunication licenses and spectrum allocations are subject to the terms and conditions contained in the
licenses, ongoing review and other approvals by the relevant authorities. They are also subject to conditions such as
maintenance of prescribed standards and inspections and may require us to submit periodic compliance reports and incur
substantial expenditure. For further details, see “Key Industry Regulations and Policies” on page 139. We cannot assure
you that our licenses and spectrum will be renewed on satisfactory terms, or at all. Our licenses and spectrum allocations
are subject to varying interpretations and the licensor reserves the unilateral right to amend the terms and conditions of
our telecommunication licenses as also the conditions relating to our participation in subsequent spectrum auctions. In
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the event the licensor exercises or alters any such right or condition relating to participation in subsequent spectrum
auction,, our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We may be required to reacquire spectrum in several service areas through an auction process, which could be at
substantially high price than spectrum acquired by us earlier. 6.2 MHz spectrum (900 MHz) in the Uttar Pradesh (West)
service area expired in February 2024, and 4.4 MHz spectrum (900 MHz) and 1.8 MHz spectrum (1800 MHz) in the
West Bengal service area expired in March 2024. However, we extended a portion of spectrum in the Uttar Pradesh
(West) service area (5 MHz out of 6.2 MHz) and our entire 900 MHz spectrum (4.4 MHz) in the West Bengal service
area for a period of three months from the date of expiry. Our 900 MHz spectrum in the Uttar Pradesh (West) and West
Bengal service areas are now due to expire in May 2024 and June 2024, respectively.

Furthermore, a part of our spectrum for the 1800 MHz spectrum in the Bihar, Mumbai, Assam, Himachal Pradesh,
Jammu and Kashmir, North East and Orissa service areas are due to expire in 2026, and a portion of our 1800 MHz
spectrum in the Madhya Pradesh service area is due to expire in 2027. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
continue to hold our existing spectrum, which could have an adverse effect on our business.

The DoT stipulates minimum rollout obligations for 5G services where spectrums have to be deployed by
telecommunications providers within certain time frames to avoid penalties from the DoT. In our case, although we have
completed the minimum rollout obligations in four service areas of Maharashtra, Delhi, Tamil Nadu, and Punjab, by
collaborating with original equipment manufacturers, we are yet to meet our minimum rollout obligations for our other
service areas. If we are unable to meet our rollout obligations for our other service areas within the stipulated timeframe,
our spectrum allotment could be withdrawn and we could be subject to additional damages under the terms of the
allotment.

There continues to be uncertainty relating to any additional terms that may be imposed upon successful bids. We have,
in the past, paid significant amounts for acquisition of spectrum, and we may have to pay substantial spectrum fees, as
well as meet specified network build-out requirements as we acquire additional spectrum in future. Furthermore, to
obtain or renew our licenses or spectrum, we may need to seek further funding through additional borrowings or
offerings, and we cannot assure you that such funding will be obtained on satisfactory terms, or at all, which could
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. For details in relation to the
spectrum auction process and other applicable regulations, see “Key Industry Regulations and Policies” on page 139.

Non-payment of large dues to our vendors, especially tower vendors and equipment suppliers, could have an adverse
effect on our business and operations. As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and as at March 31, 2023,
March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, we had trade payables aggregating to T138,078 million, ¥148,274 million,
136,422 million, T132,551 million and T134,025 million, respectively, payables for capital expenditure aggregating
to 369,262 million, 363,838 million, 366,052 million, 367,793 million and ¥84,224 million, and lease liabilities
aggregating to 3367,121 million, 385,207 million, ¥361,800 million, ¥228,434 million and 214,099 million,
respectively.

Our operations rely heavily on our vendors, particularly tower vendors and equipment suppliers. Timely payments to
these vendors are essential to ensure continued service provision and network expansion.

As at December 31, 2023, we have a significant amount of outstanding dues payable to our vendors. To partially fulfil
our contractual obligations, we have negotiated extended credit periods with some vendors. We are also actively engaged
in ongoing discussions with our vendors to secure their continued support. These discussions include the development
of mutually agreeable payment plans to address outstanding dues.

The table below sets out details of our trade payables, payables for capital expenditure and lease liabilities, as at
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and as at March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021:

(in Z million

Particulars As at December As at December As at March 31, As at March 31, As at March 31,
31, 2023 31, 2022 2023 2022 2021
Trade payables® 138,078 148,274 136,422 132,551 134,025
Payable for capital 69,262 63,838 66,052 67,793 84,224
expenditure®
Lease 367,121 385,207 361,800 228,434 214,099
liabilities®®

Note: The aforementioned amounts include amounts accrued but not due for the relevant period/year.

@ Includes current and non-current trade payables.

@ Includes current and non-current payable for capital expenditure.
@ Includes current lease liabilities and non-current lease liabilities.
@ Denotes lease liabilities payable over the entire lease term period.

Any failure to resolve outstanding vendor dues, any related penalties, if any, could have an adverse effect on our business
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and operations. Our tower vendors and equipment suppliers may pursue legal action against us and discontinue essential
services, such as tower access or equipment supply, which could significantly impact our network operations and
customer service. Continued non-payment of vendors could further also strain our liquidity and cash flow, limit our
ability to meet other financial obligations, and impact our ability to deliver services to customers.

We face intense competition that may have an impact on our market share and profitability.

Competition in the Indian telecommunications industry is intense and our primary competitors are other
telecommunication companies such as Bharti Airtel Limited, Reliance Jio Infocomm Limited, Bharat Sanchar Nigam
Limited and Mahanagar Telephone Nigam Limited. See also, “Industry Overview” on page 105. We may also face
increased competition from new entrants in the telecommunications industry in India, or if any of our competitors begin
to engage in infrastructure or spectrum sharing, or other similar arrangements. Our competitors may be able to offer
services at lower prices than us and may be able to bundle services and offer telecom solutions to their customers in
ways that we may not be able to provide. Furthermore, we may also face increased competition as a result of
consolidation among telecom operators in India. Various technology focused companies have invested, and may in the
future invest, in one or more of our competitors. As a result, such competitors may enjoy certain captive technological
advantages on account of their strategic partnerships.

Competition may affect our ability to competitively bid for spectrum that the Government intends to auction, may result
in decline in our subscriber base, cause a decrease in realisation rates and our average revenue per user (“ARPU”), an
increase in subscriber churn and an increase in selling and promotional expenses, all of which could have an adverse
effect on our business and results of operations.

We also face competition from providers of new telecommunication services as a result of technological developments
and the convergence of various telecommunication services. For example, internet based services allow users to make
calls, send text messages and offer other advanced features such as the ability to route calls to multiple handsets and
access to internet services without the same amount of regulatory costs and scrutiny as telecom operators. This may
reduce customers’ reliance on more traditional telecom services such as voice calls and short message services, resulting
in a decline in our revenues.

We compete for customers based on various factors, including service offerings, tariffs, call quality, data use experience,
network area and customer service. If we do not compete in these areas effectively, it could lead to a reduction in the
rate at which we add new customers, an increase in our customer churn, a reduction in the usage of our services by our
customers, a decrease in our market share, a reduction in revenue and an increase in our marketing and other expenses.
Competition may also bid aggressively for spectrum and affect our ability to bid competitively for spectrum that the
Government auctions in the future. If our competitors acquire better portfolio of spectrum, they could provide more
attractive services than us, which could have an adverse effect on our business. See also, “—Churn in the mobile
telecommunications industry in India is high and we cannot assure you that we will be able to retain all our existing
subscribers or that we will be successful in subscriber additions, which may have an adverse effect on our business and
results of operations” on page 32.

There are outstanding legal proceedings involving our Company, and certain Subsidiaries, Promoters, Directors and
Group Companies. Any adverse outcome in any of these proceedings may adversely affect our reputation, business,
operations, financial condition and results of operations.

There are certain outstanding legal proceedings and claims involving our Company, certain Subsidiaries, Promoters,
Directors and Group Companies, which are pending at different levels of adjudication before various courts, tribunals
and other authorities, as applicable.

Such proceedings could divert management time and attention and consume financial resources in their defence or
prosecution. There can be no assurance that these legal proceedings will be decided in favour of our Company, our
Subsidiaries, the Promoters, the Directors or the Group Companies. Any unfavourable decision in connection with such
proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, could increase our expenses and our liabilities and could adversely affect
our reputation, business, results of operations and prospects.

A summary of the litigation involving our Company, our Subsidiaries, our Promoters and our Directors is set out below:

Name of entity

Criminal
proceedings

Tax

proceedings

Statutory or
regulatory
proceedings

Disciplinary
actions by the
SEBI or Stock

Exchanges
against our

Promoters in

the last five

Fiscals

Material civil
litigations”

Aggregate amount
involved (R in
million)*

Company

By our Company

28

Nil

Nil

NA

Nil

24.16

28




Name of entity Criminal Tax Statutory or Disciplinary | Material civil | Aggregate amount
proceedings proceedings regulatory actions by the litigations” involved (R in
proceedings | SEBI or Stock million)”
Exchanges
against our
Promoters in
the last five
Fiscals
IAgainst our Company 79 2,349 174 NA Nil 615,085
Subsidiaries
By our Subsidiaries Nil Nil Nil NA Nil Nil
Against our Subsidiaries Nil 145 Nil NA Nil 2,463
Promoters
By our Promoters 17 Nil Nil Nil Nil 58.87
Against our Promoters 53 676 26 Nil 1 127,614.06"
Directors
By our Directors Nil Nil Nil NA Nil Nil
I Against our Directors 11 Nil 7 NA 1 Nil

#In accordance with the Materiality Policy.
“To the extent quantifiable.
" Includes ¥ 700 million paid under protest to Madhya Pradesh Power Transmission Company Limited.

See also, “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on page 604.

Our Statutory Auditors have included certain qualifications or adverse remarks in the annexure to their Auditor’s
reports on the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Years 2023 and 2022 issued under the Companies
(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020. If similar comments are included in the Statutory Auditors’ reports or their annexures
for our financial statements in the future, the trading price of our Equity Shares may be adversely affected.

Our Statutory Auditor’s reports on the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Years 2023 and 2022 included
a statement on certain matters specified in the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020, which was modified to
indicate the following:

For the Financial Year 2023:

The Company is in process of updating quantitative and situation details in fixed assets records maintained by the
Company for network assets being relocated as part of network integration activity in respect of the Company and its
subsidiary, Vodafone Idea Telecom Infrastructure Limited.

Verification of property, plant and equipment which are within its active network systems database through the
centralized control centers and other records, commenced during the previous year and is not yet completed as of
reporting date. Hence, auditors are unable to comment on the discrepancies, if any, that may arise upon such verification
in respect of the Company and its subsidiary, Vodafone Idea Telecom Infrastructure Limited.

Funds raised on short term basis has used for long term purposes in respect of the Company and its subsidiaries, VVodafone
Idea Telecom Infrastructure Limited, Vodafone Idea Business Service Limited, Vodafone Idea Manpower Service
Limited, Vodafone M-Pesa Limited, You Broadband India Limited and VVodafone Idea Technology Services Limited.

Internal audit system not established for the year and reports of internal auditors not considered in respect of Vodafone
M-Pesa Limited.

On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial
liabilities, other information accompanying those financial statements, the auditor’s knowledge of the Board of Directors
and management plans, there exists a material uncertainty that the Company may not be capable of meeting its liabilities,
existing at the date of balance sheet, as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date in
respect of the Company and its subsidiaries, Vodafone ldea Telecom Infrastructure Limited, VVodafone ldea Business
Service Limited, Vodafone Idea Manpower Service Limited, Vodafone Idea Shared Services Limited, You Broadband
India Limited and VVodafone Idea Technology Services Limited.

For the Financial Year 2022:

The Company is in process of updating quantitative and situation details in fixed assets records maintained by the
Company for network assets being relocated as part of network integration activity in respect of the Company and its
subsidiary, Vodafone Idea Telecom Infrastructure Limited.

Verification of property, plant and equipment which are within its active network systems database through the
centralized control centers and other records, has commenced during the year and is in the process as of reporting date.
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Hence, auditors are unable to comment on the discrepancies, if any, that may arise upon such verification in respect of
the Company.

Funds raised on short term basis have been used for long term purposes in respect of the Company and its subsidiaries,
Vodafone Idea Telecom Infrastructure Limited, Vodafone Idea Business Service Limited, VVodafone Idea Manpower
Service Limited, Vodafone Idea Shared Services Limited, Vodafone M-Pesa Limited, You Broadband India Limited,
Vodafone Idea Technology Services Limited.

Internal audit system not established for the year and reports of internal auditors not considered in respect of VVodafone
M-Pesa Limited.

On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial
liabilities, other information accompanying those financial statements, the auditor’s knowledge of the Board of Directors
and management plans, there exists a material uncertainty that the Company may not be capable of meeting its liabilities,
existing at the date of balance sheet, as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date in
respect of the Company and its subsidiary, Vodafone Idea Telecom Infrastructure Limited, VVodafone Idea Business
Service Limited, Vodafone Idea Manpower Service Limited, Vodafone Idea Shared Services Limited, You Broadband
India Limited.

If similar comments are included in the Statutory Auditor’s reports or their annexures for our financial statements in the
future, the trading price of our Equity Shares may be adversely affected.

Aditya Birla Idea Payments Bank Limited, a Group Company and Associate of the Company, is currently under
liquidation. We cannot assure you that such liquidation proceedings will be concluded in a timely manner. All
disclosures pertaining to Aditya Birla Idea Payments Bank Limited in the Red Herring Prospectus are based on
publicly available information only.

As notified by way of the RBI notification dated November 18, 2019, pursuant to a voluntarily winding up application
by Aditya Birla Idea Payments Bank Limited, a Group Company and Associate of the Company, the High Court of
Judicature at Bombay passed an order on September 18, 2019 and has appointed an official liquidator in respect of the
liquidation proceedings of Aditya Birla Idea Payments Bank Limited. Such liquidation proceedings are pending as of
the date of this Red Herring Prospectus and we cannot assure you that the proceedings will be concluded in a timely
manner. As a result, our Company has included the requisite confirmations and disclosures in relation to Aditya Birla
Idea Payments Bank Limited in this Red Herring Prospectus in all relevant sections to ensure compliance with the
disclosure requirements under the SEBI ICDR Regulations. However, all such confirmations and disclosures have been
only made on the basis of publicly available information.

Under the implementation agreement entered into among the Company and the promoters of Vodafone India, among
others, at the time of the Merger, there is a mechanism for settlement of liabilities relating to tax, regulatory and
certain specified miscellaneous matters which existed as of a specified date prior to completion of the Merger. Any
inability to fulfil our obligations in respect of AGR dues by June 2025 could impact our ability to receive payments
from the Vodafone Group under such settlement mechanism provided in the Implementation Agreement.

An implementation agreement dated March 20, 2017, as amended (the “Implementation Agreement”), was entered
into among our Company, Vodafone India, VMSL, Mr. Kumar Mangalam Birla, the ICL Promoters (as defined in the
Implementation Agreement), the Vodafone Group Shareholders and VIBHYV, setting out the terms and conditions for the
Merger. Key subsisting obligations under the Implementation Agreement include reciprocal indemnification provisions
for breach of representations, warranties and covenants (the representations and warranties are subject to time and
monetary limitations) and a mechanism for settlement of liabilities relating to tax, regulatory and certain specified
miscellaneous matters which existed as of a specified date prior to completion of the Merger. For further details, please
see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Shareholders’ Agreements and Other Agreements — Key terms of
subsisting shareholders’ agreements” on page 150.

As of December 31, 2023, we recognized 263,939 million as non current financial settlement assets in our Special
Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe that we will be able to recover such amount
under the Implementation Agreement even if the related liabilities are paid beyond June 2025 based on the deferment of
AGR dues availed by our Company.

However, in case we are not able to make payments of the AGR dues by June 2025, there is a possibility that such non-
payment could impact our ability to receive payments in respect of the net settlement assets recognized by us from the
Vodafone group under the Implementation Agreement.

We have incurred losses during recent periods and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future. During
the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021,
our loss after tax was 235,638 million, 231,870 million, 293,011 million, ¥282,454 million and ¥442,331 million,
respectively.

We have incurred losses in the past and may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future. The table below sets out
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details of our profit/ (loss) after tax during the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and
Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021:

(in % million
Particulars Nine months ended Nine months ended | Financial Year | Financial Year Financial
December 31, 2023 | December 31, 2022™ 2023 2022 Year 2021

Profit/ (loss) after tax (235,638) (231,870) (293,011) (282,454) (442,331)

“Numbers forming part of this financial period are derived from the Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements as at and for the nine months period ended December 31, 2022.

If we are ultimately unable to generate sufficient revenue to meet our financial targets, reduce costs, become profitable
and have sustainable positive cash flows, investors could lose their investment.

The table below summarizes our cash flows for the periods/ years indicated:

(in T million
Particulars Nine months Nine months Financial Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31, 2023 2022 2021

2023 2022
Net cash flows from operating activities 158,838 146,609 188,687 173,870 156,397
Net cash flows (used in) / from investing (16,919) (48,228) | (54,136) | (57,303) 10,751
activities
Net cash flows (used in) financing activities (141,018) (111,375) | (146,795) | (105,538) | (167,314)
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash 901 (12,994) | (12,244) 11,029 (166)
equivalents during the period / year

See also, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Our Results of
Operations” on page 592.

In addition, if we record losses in the future, we may be unable to meet our financial obligations, we may breach the
terms of our financial instruments and our lenders could accelerate amounts due under our existing indebtedness.

Any further downgrade in our credit ratings could increase our borrowing costs, affect our ability to obtain financing,
and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The cost and availability of capital depends in part on our short-term and long-term credit ratings. Credit ratings reflect
the opinions of ratings agencies on our financial strength, operating performance, strategic position and ability to meet
our obligations.

The table below sets out details of our credit ratings for our outstanding long-term bank facilities and short term bank
facilities as of December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively:

Instrument As of December 31, As of March 31, As of March 31, As of March 31,
2023 2023 2022 2021
Care Ratings
Long-term bank facilities CARE B+ (Stable) CARE B+ | CARE B+ (Stable) | CARE B+ (CWN)
(Positive)
Short-term bank facilities CARE A4 CARE A4 CARE A4 N/A
Brickworks Ratings
Long-term bank facilities N/A ‘ N/A ‘ N/A ’ BWR BB- (Stable)

In addition, any further downgrade in our credit ratings could result in an event of default or acceleration of amounts
outstanding under our financing arrangements, and trigger an acceleration in the repayment schedule under our financing
agreement. Such event could also increase the probability that our lenders impose additional terms and conditions to any
financing we currently have or may enter into in the future, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

We have derived our revenues primarily from providing mobility services and we have been dependent on the service
areas of Maharashtra, Gujarat and Mumbai for a significant proportion of our revenues. As per the gross revenues
reported in TRAD’s financial data reports, the contribution of the service areas of Maharashtra, Gujarat and Mumbai
for the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021
was 29.3%, 28.5%, 28.6%, 27.8% and 27.0%, respectively.

We are focused on providing mobility services and our future success depends, to a large extent, on the continued growth

of the mobile telecommunications market in India and there being no adverse regulatory, technological or other changes
impacting this industry.
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As part of our current strategy, we aim to follow a focused approach to investments in our 17 priority service areas. In
addition, we intend to focus on providing enterprise solutions to customers. However, we cannot assure you that such
strategies will be successful and any changes in subscriber preferences or other related factors, such as increased
competition in our focus districts, could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

As per the gross revenues reported in TRAI’s financial data reports, the contribution of the service areas of Maharashtra,
Gujarat and Mumbai for the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and the Financial Years
2023, 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

Particulars Nine months ended Nine months ended | Financial Year | Financial Year | Financial Year
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 2023 2022 2021
Service areas  of 29.3 28.5 28.6 27.8 27.0

Maharashtra, Gujarat
and Mumbai (in %)

See also, “Our Business — Our Licenses and Spectrum” on page 133.

If our business from the service areas of Maharashtra, Gujarat and Mumbai or from the other priority service areas
declines, our revenues may be adversely affected.

Churn in the mobile telecommunications industry in India is high and we cannot assure you that we will be able to
retain all our existing subscribers or that we will be successful in subscriber additions, which may have an adverse
effect on our business and results of operations.

The Indian mobile telecommunications industry has historically experienced a high rate of churn in the subscriber base.
This high churn rate is a consequence of, among other things, an increase in usage of devices with multi-SIM capabilities,
mobile number portability and intense competition, which have led telecom operators to introduce promotional tariffs in
order to add customers. Churn rates are especially high among pre-paid customers.

A high rate of churn increases our aggregate customer acquisition costs as we need to add new customers in order to
maintain or grow our market share. Such customer acquisition costs, among others, include payments to be made as
commission to dealers and others, costs in relation to SIM cards and documentation and customer verification expenses.
The need to add customers also requires additional marketing expenditure which cannot be fully passed on to customers.
Similarly, a high rate of churn also increases our customer retention costs as we may need to incur expenditure to dissuade
our customers from shifting to our competitors by offering innovative deals and services.

Our ability to retain our existing subscribers and to compete effectively for new subscribers and reduce our rate of churn
depends on, among other things:

e our ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive factors affecting the industry, including new
technologies, products and services, subscriber preferences, demographic trends, economic conditions and discount
pricing or other strategies;

e actual or perceived quality and coverage of our networks;

e executing our marketing and sales strategies, service delivery, subscriber service activities including account set-up
and billing; and

e public perception of our brand.

Churn may also increase due to factors beyond our control, including, a slowing economy, a maturing subscriber base
and competitive offers.

The table below sets out our churn rates during the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and
the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021:

Particulars Nine months Nine months Financial Year Financial Year Financial Year
ended December | ended December 2023 2022 2021
31, 2023 31, 2022
Monthly churn  for 4.1% 4.1% 4.0% 3.3% 2.5%
mobile services (in %)

A high rate of churn could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations and we cannot assure you
that we will be able to retain all our existing subscribers.

The Supreme Court of India passed a judgment granting 10 years to our Company and other Telecom Service
Providers for payment of the AGR dues in yearly instalments. Any inability of our Company to make timely payment
of the AGR dues as per the directions of the Supreme Court of India, could adversely affect our business and results
of operations and could impact our ability to remain competitive.

The Supreme Court by way of a judgment dated October 24, 2019 (“AGR Judgment”), decided the issue of inclusion
of non-telecom revenue streams in the AGR, upholding that the AGR computation (for computing the license fee payable
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by the Telecom Service Providers (“TSP”)) shall be computed without excluding certain heads of income, which the
TSPs claimed were not a part of the AGR as per the judgment of the Telecom Disputes Settlement and Appellate Tribunal
dated April 23, 2015 and directed the TSPs to deposit the AGR dues (until Financial Year 2017) within three months.
We filed a miscellaneous application before the Supreme Court, seeking, among others, the permission to approach the
DoT, for deciding the schedule of payment. The DoT also filed a miscellaneous application before the Supreme Court,
seeking modification of the AGR Judgment and to permit the TSPs to pay the AGR dues in annual instalments over 20
years (or less if they so opt). The Supreme Court passed an order dated July 20, 2020, stating that no dispute can be
raised in relation to the AGR calculations and that no recalculation can be done. Thereafter, the Supreme Court passed a
judgment dated September 1, 2020 (2020 Judgment”), granting 10 years to our Company and other TSPs for payment
of the AGR dues in yearly instalments. Thereafter, we filed a miscellaneous application (“Application”) before the
Supreme Court, seeking modification of the 2020 Judgment to a limited extent of allowing us to carry out corrections
relating to, among others, manifest, clerical and arithmetic errors in the computation of AGR dues. The Supreme Court
through its order dated July 23, 2021 (“2021 Judgement”), dismissed the Application. Consequently, we filed a review
petition against the 2021 Judgment, which is currently pending. We have also filed a curative petition on the same.

Any inability of our Company to pay such AGR dues as per the directions of the Supreme Court of India could impact
our ability to remain competitive, and could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We are dependent on third party telecommunication providers and any deficiency in their services could adversely
affect our business and results of operations.

Our ability to provide high quality and commercially viable mobile telecommunications services depends, in some cases,
on our ability to interconnect with the telecommunications networks and services of other domestic and international
mobile and fixed-line operators, including our optical fibre cable transmission network, which we either own or have
indefeasible right to use (“IRU”) arrangements with other telecommunication operators. We also rely on other
telecommunications operators for the provision of international roaming services for our subscribers. While we have
interconnection and international roaming agreements in place with other telecommunications operators, we have no
direct control over the quality of their networks and the interconnections and international roaming services they provide.
Any difficulties or delays in interconnecting with other networks and services, or the failure of any operator to provide
reliable interconnections or roaming services to us on a consistent basis, could result in loss of subscribers or a decrease
in traffic, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our ability to grow our business and our number of subscribers is dependent on the quality and quantity of spectrum
owned by us.

The operation of our mobile telecommunications network is limited by the quality and quantity of spectrum owned by
us. In India, telecom operators obtain access spectrum through competitive bidding in Government auctions or by
entering into spectrum sharing or trading arrangements. Acquisition of spectrum is subject to certain conditions, risks
and uncertainties, including:

e high reserve prices being set by the Government for the auction of spectrum;

e our competitors outhidding us at the spectrum auctions and entering into spectrum sharing and trading arrangements
with each other;

e regulatory uncertainties including delayed spectrum auction- and/or delayed access to spectrum already acquired
through competitive bidding; and

e the unavailability of spectrum in certain bands in certain service areas and inability to acquire contiguous spectrum.

The current spectrum owned by us may not be sufficient if the subscriber and usage growth turns out to be materially
different from our expectations, and our future profitability and growth may be adversely affected if our spectrum proves
inadequate or if we are unable to procure additional spectrum in the future for the expansion of our mobile
telecommunications business. Additional spectrum may also be required to maintain quality of service. As the number
of subscribers simultaneously using the same spectrum increases, the quality of the service may suffer, which may lead
to a loss of subscribers and revenues.

Currently, the price of the bid in relation to auction of spectrum is typically the most important selection criteria.
Increased competition may drive bidding prices for spectrum higher and we may not be able to acquire additional
spectrum or may be required to pay a higher amount for acquiring additional spectrum. We cannot assure you that there
will be further auctions for spectrum, or that we will be successful in acquiring additional spectrum that we bid for,
within a reasonable time, or at all. Further, we may not realize the expected benefits from our investment in additional
spectrum that we anticipate when we bid for such additional spectrum.

Spectrum usage rights offered in auctions are typically awarded for a period of 20 years. Moreover, spectrum acquired
through competitive bidding may suffer from interference, which may limit its utility, temporarily or for a sustained
period. Our business, financial condition, results of operation and prospects may also be adversely affected if the
Government amends spectrum holding caps in the future, which limit the amount of spectrum that can be held by one
telecom operator.
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If we cannot acquire spectrum of the necessary quality and quantity to deploy our services on a timely basis and at
adequate cost, our ability to attract and retain customers and our ability to successfully compete would be adversely
affected.

We are dependent on a limited number of vendors (including equipment manufacturers), and key suppliers to supply
critical network and other equipment and services.

We are dependent on a limited number of vendors and key suppliers to provide us with equipment and services required
to build, develop, maintain and rollout our networks and operate our businesses. These vendors also provide essential
maintenance support for our operations. We are substantially dependent on these vendors (including equipment
manufacturers) for critical components for future expansions. We cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain
satisfactory equipment and service on commercially acceptable terms or that our vendors will perform as expected.

If our contractual arrangements with our vendors (including equipment manufacturers) expire or terminate, or if we fail
to receive the quality of equipment and maintenance services that we require, to negotiate appropriate financial terms
for equipment and services, obtain adequate supplies of equipment in a timely manner, or if our key suppliers discontinue
the supply of such equipment and services due to withdrawal from the Indian mobile telecommunications market or
otherwise, we may find it difficult to replace a vendor on a timely basis without significant capital expenditure which
could significantly disrupt our services. Certain contracts also contain caps on the liability/indemnification obligations
and we may be unable to recover sufficient amounts from such suppliers for any breach or non-compliance under the
agreements. The occurrence of any such events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Further, some of the quotations and our ongoing pricing arrangements with the original equipment manufacturers are
subject to certain restrictive clauses in favour of the original equipment manufacturers in case of overdue payments,
which grant them a right to refuse acceptance of new purchase orders, putting on hold delivery of equipment and
cancelling/ rescheduling existing purchase orders. We cannot assure you that we will be able to raise necessary funds as
planned to address the concerns relating to outstanding dues in an effective and a timely manner. The occurrence of any
such events could have an adverse effect on our ability to source and purchase equipment in a timely manner or at all,
which may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We are dependent upon certain external suppliers of important services both to us and to our subscribers. For instance,
external vendors provide services relating to our subscriber service functions. As a result, we are exposed to the supply
and service capabilities of each of these vendors, which may be impacted by their ability to retain and attract qualified
personnel, maintain financial stability and mitigate unforeseen disruptions. While there have been no material instances
during the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021, any inability of our
external vendors to perform their services adequately could have an adverse impact on our operations, and could lead to
service interruptions, customer dissatisfaction, and a potential loss of subscribers. Identifying and onboarding a suitable
replacement service provider in the event of a disruption could be time-consuming and expensive, potentially resulting
in delays in service restoration and increased operational costs.

We intend to utilise a portion of the Net Proceeds for funding the purchase of certain equipment which is subject to
cost escalation. We are yet to place orders for purchase of such equipment and there can be no assurance that we will
be able to place orders for such equipment and machinery, in a timely manner or at all.

We intend to utilise a portion of the Net Proceeds for purchase of certain equipment for the expansion of our network
infrastructure by: (a) setting up new 4G sites; (b) expanding the capacity of existing 4G sites and new 4G sites; and (c)
setting up new 5G sites. The quotations from original equipment manufacturers (“OEMSs”) in relation to such equipment,
may be subject to revisions, and other commercial factors. While these quotations are valid on the date of this Red
Herring Prospectus, there is no assurance that they will continue to be valid and the cost of such equipment, plant and
machinery may escalate due to changes in import duties, foreign exchange fluctuations, shortage of such machines, or
increase in the cost of raw material. Further, our Company may seek new quotations or engage new OEMs, which may
result in additional costs to be incurred per site. Our Company has not entered into any definitive agreements with the
OEMs and there can be no assurance that the same OEMs would be engaged eventually to supply the requisite equipment
or supply at the same costs. We are yet to place any orders for such equipment. For further information including details
regarding pricing proposals obtained from OEMs for purchase of equipment, see “Objects of the Offer — Purchase of
equipment for the expansion of our network infrastructure by: (a) setting up new 4G sites; (b) expanding the capacity of
existing 4G sites and new 4G sites; and (b) setting up new 5G sites” on page 76. There can be no assurance that we will
be able to place orders for such machineries, in a timely manner or at all. We are required to obtain various government
and regulatory approvals for setting up 4G and 5G sites which will be obtained at the time of setting up and expanding
these sites, as applicable. For details of such approval, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 75.

Further, the costs of such machinery may escalate or vary based on external factors which may not be in our control. If
our actual expenses on equipment significantly exceed our estimates, or even if our estimates were sufficient for such
purchases, we may not be able to achieve the intended economic benefits, which in turn may materially and adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and prospects. We may not be able to install and duly
utilise the equipment to be purchased form the Net Proceeds due to factors beyond our control such as labour shortages,
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inadequate performance of the equipment and machinery installed in our 4G and 5G sites, defects in design or
construction, the possibility of unanticipated future regulatory restrictions, taxes and duties, environment and ecology
costs and other external factors. Additionally, in the event of any delay in placement of such orders, the proposed
schedule implementation and deployment of the Net Proceeds may be extended or may vary accordingly, which could
have an adverse impact on our growth, prospects, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on sophisticated billing, credit control and customer verification systems, any failure of which could lead to
a loss of income and subscribers.

We are dependent on several sophisticated processes, IT systems and software packages for mobile services usage, billing
and credit control. We also have outsourced certain aspects of these systems to specialist service providers. Any failure
of critical IT systems, including those provided by third parties, could have an adverse effect on our business and results
of operations, and lead to a loss of income and subscribers.

We are dependent on several complex software packages that record minutes used, calculate the appropriate charge and
then deduct the amount due from the account of the pre-paid subscriber or record the amount payable by the relevant
post-paid subscriber. Any failure to properly capture the services provided or to charge the appropriate fees could have
an adverse effect on our revenue. No system or process can ensure total capture and some loss of income is common.
However, if our income leakages increase, or are greater than those of our competitors, then our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Similarly, we are also dependent on several sophisticated processes for our customer verification and activation services.
Our customer verification and activation function ensure that all necessary documents are procured from pre-paid and
post-paid customers at the time of subscription in compliance with regulatory requirements issued from time to time in
relation to verification of the identity of our customers. The principal guidelines in this regard are dated August 9, 2012
which deal with, among other things, (i) subscriber activation process, (ii) activation of bulk, outstation, short time and
foreign subscribers, and (iii) provided norms for change in name and address of subscribers. Several amendments have
been issued by DoT from time to time in this regard including (i) re-verification of mobile subscribers, (ii) Aadhaar
based verification, (iii) alternate Digital KYC Process, (iv) self KYC process, (v) discontinuation of paper based KYC
process, (vi) discontinuation of bulk connections and (vii) introduction of business connections. In the past, the DoT has
imposed certain penalties on us and other telecom operators, for alleged violations of subscriber verification guidelines.
While such penalties did not have a material impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations, we
cannot assure you that penalties may not be imposed on us in the future. If any material penalties are imposed, it could
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the event regulatory agencies direct us to share certain customer data and records in accordance with applicable law
and upon analysing such information, it is alleged that we did not maintain acceptable internal processes for customer
verification and activation, we may be subject to penalties and fines by DoT or TRAI. Further, weak internal processes
could adversely affect our market position, especially if competitors have faster and better-coordinated systems for
mobility subscriber activation.

We are dependent on the services of our Key Managerial Personnel and other members of the management team and
our ability to recruit and retain employees. The loss of or our inability to attract or retain such persons could adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The telecommunications industry requires personnel with diverse skills and we have, over time, built a strong team of
experienced professionals to oversee the operations and growth of our businesses. We believe that the inputs and
experience of our management team and support from our Promoters and Key Managerial Personnel are valuable for the
development of our business and operations and the strategic directions taken by us. We may not be able to locate or
employ qualified executives on acceptable terms. We cannot assure you that these individuals or any other member of
our management team will not leave us or join a competitor or that we will be able to retain such personnel or find
adequate replacements in a timely manner, or at all. While there have been certain changes in our Key Managerial
Personnel during the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021, no Key
Managerial Personnel has left our organization during this period.

The table below sets out changes to our Key Managerial Personnel during the nine months ended December 31, 2023
and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021.:

Date Details of Change
August 18, | Ravinder Takkar, who was previously the chief executive officer of our Company, was appointed
2022 Chairman of our Company
August 19, | Akshaya Moondra, who was previously the chief financial officer of our Company, was appointed
2022 as CEO of our Company
February 15, | Murthy GVAS, who was previously the financial controller of our Company, was appointed CFO
2023 of our Company
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We may require a long period of time to hire and train replacement personnel when qualified personnel terminate their
employment with us. We may also be required to increase our levels of employee compensation more rapidly than in the
past to remain competitive in attracting employees that our business requires. The loss of the services of such persons
may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our business depends on the delivery of an adequate and uninterrupted supply of electrical power and fuel at a
reasonable cost.

Our tower sites require an adequate and cost-effective supply of electrical power to function effectively and we rely on
power supplied by regional and local electricity transmission grids operated by the various state electricity providers in
which our sites are located. In order to ensure that the power supply to our sites is constant and uninterrupted, we also
rely on batteries and diesel generators, the latter of which requires diesel fuel. Our operating costs will increase if the
price at which we purchase electrical power from the state electricity providers or fuel increases. While we believe that
our current supply of electricity from third parties is sufficient to meet existing requirements, we cannot assure you that
we will have an adequate or cost effective supply of electrical power at our sites or fuel for the generation of captive
power, lack of which could disrupt our and our customers’ businesses, adversely affecting business, cash flows and
results of operations. Further, any increase in the cost of electrical power, to the extent that we are not able to pass this
through to customers, would also adversely affect our profitability and cash flows.

Our reputation may be adversely affected by any negative publicity or market perception regarding our operations,
which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of our operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The success of our business relies on the strength of our brand and reputation, as well as market perception regarding
our operations. While we have cultivated a positive brand image and reputation, negative incidents or adverse publicity
could impact customer trust and confidence in our Company, such as negative publicity around our financial condition
and financial contributions. Moreover, the telecommunications industry is subject to a high level of media scrutiny and
public attention, and consumer activism in India is on the rise. This contributes to a heightened risk environment where
negative publicity could have an adverse impact on our operations.

Allegations of non-compliance with regulations could also lead to negative publicity and regulatory fines. In particular,
business continuity issues, such as network outages or data breaches, could damage customer trust. Furthermore, any
negative impact on our brand image and reputation could be lead to:

e Subscriber Loss: Existing subscribers and intermediaries could leave us, while new customer acquisition and
partnerships could become more difficult.

e Increased Costs: Regulatory scrutiny, increased litigation, and potential fines could inflate operating costs and
impact profitability.

e Impact on Credit Rating: Negative publicity may influence market perception and affect our credit ratings,
making it more expensive to borrow money.

We cannot assure you that our brand or reputation will not be adversely affected by any negative publicity or market
perception regarding our operations, which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of our operations, cash
flows and financial condition.

We have only limited protection for our intellectual property.

We operate in a competitive environment where generating and maintaining brand recognition is a significant element
of our business strategy. We have obtained 326 trademark registrations, including of brands as of December 31, 2023,
including our pre-paid service marks. See “Our Business — Intellectual Property” and “Government and other Approvals”
on pages 124 and 649, respectively. We may not be able to prevent infringement of our trademarks and a passing off
action may not provide sufficient protection. Additionally, we may be required to litigate to protect our trademarks,
which may adversely affect our business. As of December 31, 2023, four of our trademark applications had been objected
to and two had been opposed by third parties. We cannot assure you that we will successfully obtain or enforce our
trademarks and any such event could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and prospects.

A large part of our passive infrastructure is not owned by us and as a result we cannot assure you that such passive
infrastructure will be adequately maintained or that our strategy for the continued upgrade or rollout of our network
will be implemented in a timely manner or on a cost-effective basis.

As of December 31, 2023, we had a network of approximately 183,400 unique towers, most of which are located on sites
not owned by us but leased from other third parties. While we have long term infrastructure sharing arrangements in
place with these parties, we have no direct control over these entities and are dependent on these entities for the
maintenance and continual upgrade or rollout of our network. Any difficulties or delays in acquiring cell sites, or setting
up towers, or the failure of any passive infrastructure provider to execute our rollout initiatives, could result in loss of
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opportunity to grow our network, which could result in a decrease in traffic, which could, as a result, adversely affect
our business and results of operations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify new cell sites in a timely or
cost-effective basis or that we or they will be able to secure or renew leases for existing cell sites on acceptable terms or
that any such leases can be renewed on economically acceptable terms.

We are exposed to certain risks in respect of the development, expansion and maintenance of our mobile
telecommunications networks.

The expansion and upgrade of our network infrastructure is subject to various risks. These risks can delay the introduction
of services in certain areas and lead to increased network construction costs. The speed of network expansion and
technology upgrades is critical to our ability to grow our customer base.

Our overall operating costs are susceptible to fluctuations due to various factors, including energy consumption costs
and costs associated with obtaining and maintaining licenses, spectrum, and other regulatory requirements. Volatility in
these expenses and global commodity prices, including that of steel and fuel, other variable operating costs, coupled with
any inability to pass on these increased costs to customers, could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, and overall business performance.

Network expansion and infrastructure projects are inherently capital-intensive throughout the planning and construction
phases. Furthermore, obtaining the necessary permits and approvals can be a lengthy process, delaying the realization of
benefits from these projects. During this extended timeframe, we are exposed to certain risks beyond our control,
including but not limited to:

e  Construction and Operational Risks:
o Shortages of materials, equipment, or labor, exacerbated by labor disputes or subcontractor disagreements.

o Inadequate infrastructure, such as failure by third parties to fulfill their obligations regarding utilities or
transportation links critical for project operation.

o Accidents and mishaps.
o Project completion delays or deviations from specifications.

e Force Majeure: Adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, or global geopolitical tensions, changes in local
government priorities or policies, including security restrictions impacting equipment sourcing; or accidents.

e Regulatory Risks:

o Limitations imposed by the Government of India on component providers within the telecommunications
industry.

o Difficulties in obtaining or maintaining project development permissions, licenses, permits, or approvals,
including regulatory approvals from the Standing Advisory Committee on Radio Frequency Allocations
(SACFA).

The occurrence of one or more of these events may impact our ability to complete current or future network expansion
projects on schedule or within budget, if at all, and may prevent us from achieving targeted increases in customer base,
revenues, internal rates of return or capacity associated with such projects. This could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to acquire new broadband subscribers or convert our existing subscribers to broadband subscribers,
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected.

Our business is increasingly dependent on revenue generated from data services and end-to-end business solutions. We
currently have a large number of customers on 2G and we intend to focus upgrading such customers to broadband.
Various factors such as rising income levels, decline in prices of smartphones, increasing availability of mobile-based
content, higher data demanding media including videos, games and other applications on smartphones and the roll-out
of 2100 and 1800 MHz spectrum have led to a rapid growth of data usage in the telecom sector in India. We cannot
assure you that these trends will continue in the future and that we will continue to benefit from growth in data usage.
We may need to upgrade and expand our network infrastructure and increase broadband capacity in order to remain
competitive in the provision of data services, including 5G data services, to our customers, which will require additional
capital expenditure. We have taken certain initiative such as dynamic spectrum re-farming, deployment of Ultra Band
Radio and TDD sites. However, we cannot assure you that such measures will result in an increase in our ARPU. If we
are unable to expand or upgrade our network and equipment for the provision of data services on a timely and cost
effective basis, or if we are unable to realise the intended benefits of these initiatives, we may lose existing subscribers
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or fail to attract new customers.

Growth in our broadband revenues is dependent on the prices we are able to charge for various offerings and the level of
usage by our customers. We cannot assure you that future broadband usage growth will be adequate to compensate for
any future reduction in prices. Further, if our competitors are able to offer broadband services that are, or that are
perceived to be, more affordable or of a higher quality than those offered by us, we may be required to reduce the price
of our broadband offerings or risk losing market share. If we are unable to remain competitive in providing broadband
services in the future, our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our reputation and business may be harmed and we may be subject to legal claims and negative publicity if there is
loss, disclosure or misappropriation of, or access to our subscribers’ or our own information or other breaches of our
information security.

We may face negative publicity owing to factors such as network connectivity, customer satisfaction and the efficacy of
our complaints and grievance redressal process. While there have been no material instances in the three preceding
financial years and the nine months ended December 31, 2023, larger negative incidents or adverse publicity could
rapidly erode customer trust and confidence in us, particularly if such incidents attract regulatory investigations. Negative
publicity can result from our own or our third-party service providers’ actual or alleged conduct, and actions taken in
response to that conduct. The dissemination of inaccurate information online could harm our business, reputation,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations, regardless of the information’s accuracy. Such unverifiable or
false information regarding us may be published on print, electronic or social media by third parties, and any other such
damage to our brand or our reputation may result in loss of our existing subscribers and loss of new business from
potential customers. This could increase our costs, lead to litigation or result in negative publicity that could damage our
reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We make extensive use of online services and centralized data processing, including through third-party service
providers. The secure maintenance and transmission of subscriber information is an important element of our operations.
Our information technology and other systems that maintain and transmit subscriber information, or those of service
providers, may be compromised by a malicious third-party penetration of our network security, or that of a third-party
service provider, or impacted by advertent or inadvertent actions or inactions by our employees, or those of a third-party
service provider. As a result, our subscribers’ information may be lost, disclosed, accessed or taken without the
subscribers’ consent.

Existing and emerging data privacy regulations limit the extent to which we can use personal identifiable information.
We are required to comply with KYC requirements and processes in relation to our customers as per applicable Indian
law. If we are unable to develop, maintain and update customer information in accordance with applicable KYC norms
or are unable to prevent the misuse of our services, we may be held liable for non-compliance with governmental
regulations. The cost and operational consequences of implementing further data protection measures could be
significant and this may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Changing
policy in relation to KYC may also have an adverse effect on our costs.

We are exposed to the risk of misuse of our services based on forged or counterfeit KYC documents. On March 22,
2024, the DoT reportedly identified a major security risk where a substantial number of SIM cards had been activated
using counterfeit proof of identity or proof of address documents. This was according to analysis carried out by the
DoT’s Artificial Intelligence & Digital Intelligence Unit. Further verification of such documents and ongoing compliance
could have an adverse effect on our costs.

In addition, third-party service providers and we process and maintain our proprietary business information and data
related to our subscribers or suppliers. Our information technology and other systems that maintain and transmit this
information, or those of third party service providers, may also be compromised by a malicious third-party penetration
of our network security or that of a third-party service provider, or impacted by intentional or inadvertent actions or
inactions by our employees or those of a third-party service provider.

Any major compromise of our data or network security, failure to prevent or mitigate the loss of our services or any
subscriber information and delays in detecting any such compromise or loss could disrupt our operations, damage our
reputation and subscribers’ willingness to purchase our service and subject us to additional costs and liabilities, including
litigation.

We are subject to extensive regulation and changes in laws, regulations, policies and the interpretation thereof.
Failure to comply with existing or future laws, regulations or policies could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operation, financial condition and prospects.

The telecom sector in India is regulated by the TRAI, among other regulatory bodies and is subjected to the supervisions
of the DoT, including various wings such as the Wireless Planning and Coordination Wing. The extensive regulatory
structure within which we operate may constrain our flexibility to respond to market conditions, technological
developments, competition or changes in our cost structure, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. For further details, please see “Key Industry Regulations and Policies” on
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page 139.

We are required to obtain and renew several approvals from various other regulatory bodies from time to time. For
details, see “Government and Other Approvals” on page 649. If we fail to obtain, maintain or renew required approvals,
licenses, registrations and permits at the requisite time, this may result in the interruption of our operations and will have
an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and prospects. The terms and conditions of these may be amended
at the discretion of the Government, and such amendments may be unfavorable to us. Changes to the terms and conditions
of these licenses could subject us to additional liabilities and may adversely effect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Further, we cannot assure you that the approvals, licenses, registrations and permits
issued to us will not be suspended or revoked in the event of an alleged or actual non-compliance with any terms or
conditions thereof, or pursuant to any regulatory action in the future.

Environmental and health regulations may impose additional costs and may affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations. Concerns about health risks associated with mobile telecommunications equipment may
reduce the demand for our services.

Our tower infrastructure and telecommunications operations are subject to a comprehensive framework of national, state,
and municipal environmental laws and regulations in India. These regulations encompass a range of environmental
concerns, including potential health impacts associated with electromagnetic radiation. Non-compliance with applicable
environmental laws, regulations, or administrative orders could expose us to potential monetary fines and penalties. For
further details, see “Key Industry Regulations and Policies” on page 139.

The effects of any damage caused by exposure to an electromagnetic field have been and continue to be the subject of
careful evaluations by the international scientific community, but to date there is no conclusive scientific evidence of
harmful effects on health. However, we cannot rule out that exposure to electromagnetic fields or other emissions
originating from transmission infrastructure is not, or will not be found to be, a health risk. Our costs could increase and
our revenue could decrease due to perceived health risks from radio emissions, especially if these perceived risks are
substantiated.

Numerous cases have been filed against, or involving, telecom operators, tower infrastructure providers and mobile
device manufacturers in various jurisdictions, including India, relating to violation of safety norms with respect to
electromagnetic field radiation and related health risks. For details on outstanding Electromagnetic field radiation matters
matters, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation involving our Company — Outstanding
actions by statutory or regulatory authorities against our Company — Electromagnetic field radiation matters matters”
on page 615. We may not be able to satisfactorily resolve any or all such proceedings that we are, or may become,
involved in. Our involvement in such proceedings could also entail significant costs.

Our operations could be adversely affected by strikes, work stoppages or increased wage demands by our employees
or any other kind of disputes with our employees.

As of December 31, 2023, we employed 12,598 personnel across our operations. Although we have not experienced any
material labour unrest in the preceding three financial years and the nine months ended December 31, 2023, we cannot
assure you that we will not experience disruptions in work due to disputes or other problems with our work force, which
may adversely affect our ability to continue our business operations. Future strikes, work stoppages or unionization
efforts or other types of conflict with our employees could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The table below sets out details of our employee attrition rate (calculated as total employees who left the organisation in
the relevant period divided by total number of employees (including exited employees):

Particulars Nine months ended Nine months ended | Financial Year | Financial Year | Financial Year
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 2023 2022 2021
Employee attrition 16.9 22.9 29.1 26.5 35.8
rate (in %)

This was primarily due to a number of factors, including but not limited to competition for experienced personnel and
growth of technology enabled companies.

Furthermore, certain of our vendors may have unionized workforces. In the event that one or more of our vendors
experience a work stoppage that adversely affects or delays delivery of any equipment or services that such vendors
provide to us, such work stoppage could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

Our insurance coverage may not adequately protect us against risks including operating hazards and natural
disasters.

We insure our properties forming part of the tangible fixed assets on replacement value basis. We have also availed
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cellular network policies. Insurance for fixed assets put to use covers all operational risks, losses arising out of any
material damage, terrorism cover and coverage for equipment in transit. We are also insured against business liability
losses including third party liabilities (excluding business interruption losses) for amounts as felt appropriate by us. We
have also availed cyber insurance, mediclaim policies and directors and officers liability insurance.

Whilst we believe that we maintain reasonable insurance cover for all foreseeable contingencies and which are consistent
with industry practices, the occurrence of any event that is uninsurable or not adequately insured or uninsured (in the
case of our fibre business) could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, we cannot assure you that any claim under the insurance policies maintained by us will be honoured fully, in
part, or on time.

We did not face any instances of significant insurance claims being denied during the nine months ended December 31,
2023 and the Financial Years 2023, 2022 and 2021. To the extent that we suffer any consequential loss or damage that
is not covered by insurance, or exceeds our insurance coverage, our business, results of operations and financial
condition may be adversely affected.

We enter into related party transactions and may continue to do so in the future, which may potentially involve
conflicts of interest with our shareholders.

We have entered into several transactions with related parties, including certain material related party transactions such
as availing services of passive infrastructure and maintenance at our various telecom sites. For further details, please see
“Other Financial Information — Related Party Transactions” on page 570. While we believe that all such transactions
have been conducted on an arms’ length basis and contain commercially reasonable terms and have been approved by
our audit committee, the Board or the Shareholders in accordance with applicable regulations, we cannot assure you that
we could not have achieved more favorable terms had such transactions been entered into with unrelated parties. It is
likely that we may enter into related party transactions in the future subject to compliance with the SEBI Listing
Regulations, applicable accounting standards and other statutory requirements. Such future related party transactions
may potentially involve conflicts of interest. We cannot assure you that such future transactions, individually or in the
aggregate, will not have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our Promoters exercise significant control over our Company and will continue to do so after completion of the Offer.
Further, the Government of India holds a significant stake in the Company. This may limit your ability to influence
the outcome of matters submitted for approval of our Shareholders.

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Promoters and Promoter Group hold 48.91% of the shareholding of
our Company and have certain rights (including affirmative voting rights) under the shareholders agreement and the
Articles of Association. For details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Details regarding material
acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets, etc. in the last
10 years” on page 148 and “Main Provisions of the Articles of Association” on page 326. As on the date of this Red
Herring Prospectus, the Government of India holds 32.19% in our Company.

Following the completion of the Offer, our Promoters and the Government of India will continue to hold substantial
portion of our Equity Share capital. As a result, they will have the ability to significantly influence matters requiring
Shareholders’ approval, including the ability to appoint Directors to our Board and the right to approve significant actions
at Board and at Shareholders’ meetings, including further issue of Equity Shares and dividend payments, business plans,
mergers and acquisitions, any consolidation or joint venture arrangements, any amendment to our Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association. We cannot assure you that our Promoters and the Government of India will not
have conflicts of interest with other Shareholders or with our Company. Any such conflict may adversely affect our
ability to execute our business strategy or to operate our business.

Our Promoters, Directors and Key Managerial Personnel have interests in us other than reimbursement of expenses
incurred or normal remuneration or benefits.

Our Promoters are interested in our Company to the extent of being promoters of our Company, any transactions entered
into by them with our Company in the ordinary course of business and their shareholding and dividend entitlement in
our Company. Some of our Directors are also directors of companies in the Promoter Group. For further details, see
“Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on page 177. Additionally, our Directors, Key Managerial Personnel are
interested in our Company to the extent of remuneration paid to them for services rendered as Directors, Key Managerial
Personnel, respectively, of our Company and reimbursement of expenses payable to them. Our Directors and Key
Managerial Personnel may also be interested to the extent of any transaction entered into by our Company with any other
company or firm in which they are directors or partners. Additionally, our Directors and Key Managerial Personnel may
be interested in the Equity Shares or ESOPs held by them or entities with which they are associated as promoters,
directors, partners, proprietors or trustees or held by their relatives or that may be subscribed by or allotted to the
companies, firms, ventures, trusts in which they are interested as promoters, directors, partners, proprietors, members or
trustees, pursuant to the Offer. For further details, see “Our Management” on page 161 of this Red Herring Prospectus.
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Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend on our earnings, financial condition, working capital
requirements, capital expenditures and restrictive covenants of our financing arrangements.

Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend on number of internal factors and external factors, which include,
among others, (i) availability of distributable profits; (ii) leverage profile and capital adequacy metrics; (iii) stability of
earnings; (iv) cash flows from operations; (v) future capital expenditure, inorganic growth plans and reinvestment
opportunities; (vi) industry outlook and stage of business cycle for underlying businesses; (vii) overall economic /
regulatory environment; (viii) contingent liabilities; (ix) past dividend trends; (x) buyback of shares or any such alternate
profit distribution measure, (xi) payment of annual instalment of AGR liabilities, and (xii) any other factor deemed fit
by the Board. We may decide to retain all of our earnings to finance the development and expansion of our businesses
and, therefore, may not declare dividends on the Equity Shares. Any future determination as to the declaration and
payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our Board and will depend on factors that our Board deems relevant,
including among others, our future earnings, financial condition, cash requirements, business prospects and any other
financing arrangements. Additionally, our ability to pay dividends may also be restricted by the terms of financing
arrangements that we have entered into and may enter into. For further details, see “Dividend Policy” on page 203 of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

As of December 31, 2023, we had contingent liabilities as per Ind AS 37, which when they materialize, could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The following table below sets out our contingent liabilities as per Ind AS 37 — Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, as at December 31, 2023:

(< in million)

SH Particulars As at December 31, 2023

No.
Contingent Liabilities
A) Licensing Disputes
i) OTSC (Less than 4.4 MHz) 38,570
i) Other licensing disputes 97,794
B) Other Matters not acknowledged as debt
i) Income tax matters 4,834
i) Sales tax and entertainment tax matters 1,524
iii) Service tax/goods and service tax (GST) matters 14,823
iv) Entry tax and customs matters 5,567
V) Other claims 27,105

For further details, please see “Summary of the Offer Document — Summary of Contingent Liabilities” on page 15.

We cannot assure you that we will not incur similar or increased levels of contingent liabilities in the future. If a
significant portion of these liabilities materialize, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We may be affected by competition laws, the adverse application or interpretation of which could adversely affect our
business.

The Competition Act, 2002 (the “Competition Act”) regulates practices having an appreciable adverse effect on
competition in the relevant market in India. The Competition Act aims to, among other things, prohibit all agreements
and transactions which may have an appreciable adverse effect on competition in India and regulates combinations and
mergers. Consequently, all agreements entered into by us could be within the purview of the Competition Act. Under
the Competition Act, any arrangement, understanding or action, whether formal or informal, which has or is likely to
have an appreciable adverse effect on competition is void and attracts substantial penalties. Any agreement among
competitors which, directly or indirectly, determines purchase or sale prices, results in bid rigging or collusive bidding,
limits or controls the production, supply or distribution of goods and services, or shares the market or source of
production or providing of services by way of allocation of geographical area or type of goods or services or number of
customers in the relevant market or in any other similar way, is presumed to have an appreciable adverse effect on
competition and shall be void. Further, the Competition Act prohibits the abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise.
Further, the Competition Commission of India (“CCI”) has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any agreements,
abusive conduct or combination occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or combination has an appreciable
adverse effect on competition in India.

If we, or any of our employees, are penalised under the Competition Act, our business may be adversely affected. Further,
the Competition Act also regulates combinations and requires approval of the CCI for effecting any acquisition of shares,
voting rights, assets or control or mergers or amalgamations above the prescribed asset and turnover based thresholds. It
is difficult to predict the impact of the Competition Act on our growth and expansion strategies in the future. If we are
affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act or any
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enforcement proceedings initiated by the CCI or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or
prosecution by the CClI, it may adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

related to the Objects of the Offer

Our funding requirements have not been appraised by a bank or a financial institution and if there are any delays or
cost overruns, our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We intend to use the Net Proceeds of the Fresh Issue for the purposes described in “Objects of the Offer” on page 75.
Our overall fund requirements are higher than the Offer. Further, our overall funding requirements, the objects of the
Fresh Issue and deployment of Net Proceeds have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other
independent agency. Whilst CARE Ratings Limited has been appointed as the monitoring agency for monitoring
utilization of the Net Proceeds, the proposed utilization of Net Proceeds is based on current business plan, management
estimates, payment schedule for the deferred payment instalments prescribed by the DoT in terms of the frequency
allotment letters and demand notes, terms and repayment schedules of the financing arrangement entered into by the
Company, proposals obtained from original equipment manufacturers, our own past experience and payment terms and
other commercial considerations and technical factors, which are subject to change and may not be within the control of
our management. Based on the competitive nature of our industry, we may have to revise our business plan and/ or
management estimates from time to time and consequently our funding requirements may also change. Our internal
management estimates may exceed fair market value or the value that would have been determined by third party
appraisals, which may require us to rescheduling or revising the planned expenditure and funding requirements, including
the expenditure for a particular purpose and may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

Further, a portion of our Net Proceeds is proposed to be utilised towards purchase of network equipment towards setting
up new 5G sites. While we have deployed 5G technology in four services areas, namely, Maharashtra, Delhi, Tamil
Nadu and Punjab, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, we have limited experience in setting up such 5G sites.
Accordingly, the actual costs to be incurred, the nature and categories of equipment required to be purchased may differ
from our past experience and internal estimates, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Our Company, in accordance with the policies established by the Board from time to time, will have flexibility to deploy
the Net Proceeds. Further, pending utilization of Net Proceeds towards the Objects of the Offer, our Company will
temporarily invest the Net Proceeds in deposits only in one or more scheduled commercial banks included in the Second
Schedule of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, as amended, as may be approved by our Board or a duly constituted
committee thereof. Accordingly, prospective investors in the Offer will need to rely upon our management’s judgment
with respect to the use of Net Proceeds.

Any variation in the utilization of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Red Herring Prospectus shall be subject to
certain compliance requirements, including prior approval of the shareholders of our Company.

We propose to utilize the Net Proceeds towards: (a) purchase of network equipment for the expansion of our network
infrastructure by: (a) setting up new 4G sites; (b) expanding the capacity of existing 4G sites and new 4G sites; and (b)
setting up new 5G sites; (b) Payment of certain deferred payments for spectrum to the DoT and the GST thereon; and
(c) general corporate purposes. For further details of the proposed objects of the Offer, see “Objects of the Offer”
beginning on page 75. Further, we cannot determine with any certainty if we would require the Net Proceeds to meet
any other expenditure or fund any exigencies arising out of the competitive environment, business conditions, economic
conditions or other factors beyond our control. In accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, we cannot undertake variation in the utilization of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Red Herring
Prospectus without obtaining the approval of the Shareholders through a special resolution. In the event of any such
circumstances that require us to vary the disclosed utilization of the Net Proceeds, we may not be able to obtain the
approval of the Shareholders in a timely manner, or at all. Any delay or inability in obtaining such approval of the
Shareholders may adversely affect our business or operations. Further, our Promoters or controlling shareholders, if
applicable, would be required to provide an exit opportunity to the shareholders of our Company who do not agree with
our proposal to modify the objects of the Offer, at a price and manner as prescribed by SEBI.

Additionally, the requirement on Promoters or controlling shareholders, if applicable, to provide an exit opportunity to
such dissenting shareholders of our Company may deter our Promoters or controlling shareholders from agreeing to the
variation of the proposed utilization of the Net Proceeds, even if such variation is in the interest of our Company. Further,
we cannot assure you that our Promoters or the controlling shareholders of our Company if applicable, will have adequate
resources at their disposal at all times to enable them to provide an exit opportunity. In light of these factors, we may
not be able to vary the objects of the Offer to use any unutilized proceeds of the Fresh Issue, if any, even if such variation
is in the interest of our Company. This may restrict our Company’s ability to respond to any change in our business or
financial condition by re-deploying the unutilized portion of Net Proceeds, if any, which may adversely affect our
business, financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.
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Our ability to raise foreign capital may be constrained by Indian law.

As an Indian company, we are subject to exchange controls that regulate borrowing in foreign currencies. Such regulatory
restrictions limit our financing sources and could constrain our ability to obtain financings on competitive terms and
refinance existing indebtedness. In addition, we cannot assure you that any required regulatory approvals for borrowing
in foreign currencies will be granted to us without onerous conditions, or at all. Limitations on foreign debt may have an
adverse effect on our business growth, financial condition and results of operations.

Under Indian law, foreign investors are subject to investment restrictions that limit our ability to attract foreign
investors, which may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Under foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfer of shares between non-residents and residents
are freely permitted (subject to certain exceptions), if they comply with the pricing and reporting requirements specified
by the RBI. If a transfer of shares is not in compliance with such requirements and does not fall under any of the
exceptions specified by the RBI, then the RBI’s prior approval is required. Additionally, shareholders who seek to
convert Rupee proceeds from a sale of shares in India into foreign currency and repatriate that foreign currency from
India require a no-objection or a tax clearance certificate from the Indian income tax authorities. Further, this conversion
is subject to the shares having been held on a repatriation basis and, either the security having been sold in compliance
with the pricing guidelines or, the relevant regulatory approval having been obtained for the sale of shares and
corresponding remittance of the sale proceeds. We cannot assure you that any required approval from the RBI or any
other governmental agency can be obtained with or without any particular terms or conditions.

In addition, pursuant to Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020 issued by the DPIIT which has been
incorporated as the proviso to Rule 6(a) of the Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Amendment
Rules, 2020 which came into effect from April 22, 2020, any investment, subscription, purchase or sale of equity
instruments by entities of a country which shares a land border with India or where the beneficial owner of an investment
into India is situated in or is a citizen of any such country, will require prior approval of the Government of India, as
prescribed in the Consolidated FDI Policy dated October 15, 2020, and the FEMA Rules. These investment restrictions
shall also apply to subscribers of offshore derivative instruments. We cannot assure you that any required approval from
the RBI or any other governmental agency can be obtained on any particular term or at all. For further details, see
“Restrictions on Foreign Ownership of Indian Securities” on page 758.

As an Indian company, we are subject to exchange controls that regulate borrowing in foreign currencies. Such regulatory
restrictions limit our financing sources and could constrain our ability to obtain financings on competitive terms and
refinance existing indebtedness. In addition, we cannot assure you that any required regulatory approvals for borrowing
in foreign currencies will be granted to us without onerous conditions, or at all. Limitations on foreign debt may have an
adverse effect on our business growth, financial condition and results of operations. Accordingly, our ability to raise any
foreign capital under the FDI route is therefore constrained by Indian law, which may adversely affect our business,
financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

Any future issuance of Equity Shares, or convertible securities or other equity-linked securities by us or conversion
of outstanding dues owed to the Government of India may dilute your shareholding and adversely affect the trading
price of the Equity Shares.

Any future issuance of Equity Shares, convertible securities or securities linked to the Equity Shares by us, including
through exercise of employee stock options may dilute your shareholding in our Company, adversely affect the trading
price of the Equity Shares and our ability to raise capital through an issue of our securities. In addition, any perception
by investors that such issuances or sales might occur could also affect the trading price of the Equity Shares. We cannot
assure you that we will not issue additional Equity Shares. Furthermore, as per the Telecom Reform Package, the
Government of India has the option to convert the outstanding amount relating to the deferred payment of DPO and AGR
dues by way of equity at the end of the Moratorium. The disposal of Equity Shares by any of our Promoters, Promoter
Group or other significant Shareholders, or conversion of outstanding dues owed to the Government of India, or the
perception that such sales or conversion may occur, may significantly affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.
Further, except as disclosed in “Capital Structure” on page 64, we cannot assure you that our Promoters and Promoter
Group will not dispose of, pledge or encumber their Equity Shares in the future.

Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of the Equity Shares.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity shares of an
Indian company are generally taxable in India. A securities transaction tax (“STT”) is levied on equity shares sold on an
Indian stock exchange. Any capital gain exceeding 3100,000, realized on the sale of listed equity shares on a recognised
stock exchange, held for more than 12 months may be subject to long-term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 10%
(plus applicable surcharge and cess). This beneficial provision is, inter alia, subject to payment of STT on both
acquisition and sale of the equity shares. Further any capital gain realised on the sale of listed equity shares of an Indian

43



46.

47.

company, held for more than 12 months, which are sold using any platform other than a recognized stock exchange and
on which no STT has been paid, will be subject to long term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 10% (plus applicable
surcharge and cess), without indexation benefits.

Further, any gain realized on the sale of our Equity Shares held for a period of 12 months or less immediately preceding
the date of transfer, will be subject to short-term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 15% (plus applicable surcharge
and cess), subject to STT being paid at the time of sale of such shares. Otherwise, such gains will be taxed at the applicable
rates.

Capital gains arising from the sale of the Equity Shares may be partially or completely exempt from taxation in India in
cases where such exemption is provided under a treaty between India and the country of which the seller is a resident.
Generally, Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s ability to impose tax on capital gains. As a result, residents of other
countries may be liable for tax in India as well as in their own jurisdiction on gains made upon the sale of the Equity
Shares. The Finance Act, 2019 has clarified that, in the absence of a specific provision under an agreement, the liability
to pay stamp duty in case of sale of securities through stock exchanges will be on the buyer, while in other cases of
transfer for consideration through a depository, the onus will be on the transferor. The stamp duty for transfer of certain
securities, other than debentures, on a delivery basis is specified at 0.015% and on a non-delivery basis is specified at
0.003% of the consideration amount. These amendments have come into effect from July 1, 2020.

Unfavourable changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations including
foreign investment and stamp duty laws governing our business and operations could result in us being deemed to be in
contravention of such laws and may require us to apply for additional approvals.

Significant differences exist between Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as Indian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and International Financial Reporting
Standards, which may be material to investors' assessments of our financial condition.

The Special Purpose Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated Financial
Statement included in this Red Herring Prospectus have been prepared in accordance with Ind AS 34 and Ind AS,
respectively. There are significant differences between Ind AS, Indian GAAP, U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Our Company
does not provide reconciliation of its financial information to IFRS or U.S. GAAP. Our Company has not attempted to
explain those differences or quantify their impact on the financial data included in this Red Herring Prospectus and it is
urged that you consult your own advisors regarding such differences and their impact on our financial data. Accordingly,
the degree to which the financial information included in this Red Herring Prospectus will provide meaningful
information is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies and practices, the
Companies Act, Ind AS, the Indian GAAP and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with
Indian accounting policies and practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Red Herring Prospectus should,
accordingly, be limited.

Fluctuation in the exchange rate between the Indian Rupee and foreign currencies may have an adverse effect on
the value of our Equity Shares, independent of our operating results.

Our Equity Shares are quoted in Indian Rupees on the Stock Exchanges. Any dividends in respect of our Equity Shares
will also be paid in Indian Rupees and subsequently converted into the relevant foreign currency for repatriation, if
required. Any adverse movement in currency exchange rates during the time that it takes to undertake such conversion
may reduce the net dividend to foreign investors. In addition, any adverse movement in currency exchange rates during
a delay in repatriating outside India the proceeds from a sale of Equity Shares, for example, because of a delay in
regulatory approvals that may be required for the sale of Equity Shares may reduce the proceeds received by the
Shareholders. For example, the exchange rate between the Rupee and the U.S. dollar has fluctuated in recent years and
may continue to fluctuate substantially in the future, which may have an adverse effect on the returns on our Equity
Shares, independent of our operating results.

External Risk Factors

48.

Technical failures, natural disasters, terrorism, fire or attacks by disaffected social elements or cyber attacks could
damage our telecommunications networks.

Our mobile telecommunications networks are vulnerable to technological failures and natural disasters such as
earthquakes and floods. There have also been isolated incidents of damage to our installations and those of our
competitors as a result of attacks by disaffected sections of the community or groups seeking various forms of recognition
or redress. Although the nature of our network is such that these incidents are likely to remain isolated and not impact
our overall provision of services, we cannot assure you that these attacks will not increase or be more disruptive.

Our main IT data centre is in Pune but we have another IT data centre in Hyderabad, which functions as a disaster
recovery site. Our IT data centre in Hyderabad provides disaster recovery support and back-up facilities for most of the
critical IT enabled business applications but does not replicate in full the functions of our IT data centre in Pune. As
such, any interruption to the use of our main IT data centre in Pune could have an adverse effect on our business, results
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of operations and prospects. We cannot assure you that we will be able to control losses caused by any natural,
technological or human calamity.

Our business is substantially affected by prevailing economic, political and other prevailing conditions in emerging
and global markets.

Our operations and financial performance are linked to the economic conditions in India and other emerging and global
markets where we conduct business. The Indian economy and securities markets are influenced by economic, political
and market conditions in India and globally. As we primarily operate and carry out our operations in India, we are
susceptible to fluctuations in the Indian economy. Factors that may adversely affect the overall economic climate, and
consequently our results of operations and cash flows, include, but are not limited to:

e Macroeconomic Factors: Inflation, interest rates, currency exchange rates, and overall economic growth;

e Political Factors: Changes in government policies, geopolitical instability, and regulatory environment,
including changes in tax, trade, fiscal or monetary policies;

e Market Conditions: Fluctuations in stock markets, commodity prices, and consumer spending patterns;

e Geopolitical Events: Political instability, terrorism, or military conflict within the region or globally. For
instance, prevailing tensions between India and China, the recent Israel-Hamas conflict and the Russia-Ukraine
conflict;

e Natural and Man-made Disasters: Occurrence of natural disasters, pandemics (such as COVID-19), or
outbreaks of contagious diseases;

e Credit Rating Downgrades: Downgrades in our credit rating or the credit rating of India by domestic or
international rating agencies;

e Financial Market Instability: Disruptions in financial markets, volatility in, and actual or perceived trends in
trading activity on, the relevant market’s principal stock exchanges; or

e Supply Chain Disruptions: Disruptions in supply chain and logistics arrangements.

Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy or the economy of any emerging and global market, or in
specific sectors of such economies, could adversely impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition and the price of the Equity Shares.

If inflation and interests rates were to rise in India, we might not be able to increase the prices of our services at a
proportional rate in order to pass costs on to our customers and our profits might decline.

The majority of our direct costs are incurred in India, which has experienced high levels of inflation. We tend to
experience inflation-driven increases in certain of our costs, such as salaries and related allowances that are linked to
general price levels in India. However, we may not be able to increase the tariffs that we charge for our services
sufficiently to preserve operating margins. Accordingly, high rates of inflation in India could increase our costs and
decrease our operating margins, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Inflation rates could be volatile, and we may face high inflation in the future as India had witnessed in the recent past.
Increased inflation can contribute to an increase in interest rates and increased costs to our business, including increased
costs of transportation, wages and salaries, increased costs of importation of machinery and other expenses relevant to
our business. Further, high inflation leading to higher interest rates may also lead to a slowdown in the economy and
adversely impact credit growth. Consequently, we may also be affected and fall short of business growth and profitability.
High fluctuations in inflation rates may make it more difficult for us to accurately estimate or control our costs. Any
increase in inflation in India can increase our operating expenses, which we may not be able to pass on to our customers,
whether entirely or in part, and the same may adversely affect our business and financial condition. In particular, we
might not be able to reduce our costs or pass the increase in costs on to our customers. In such case, our business, results
of operations, cash flows and financial condition may be adversely affected.

A portion of our borrowings are also denominated in Rupees and are linked to floating Indian interest rates. Any increase,
especially over a prolonged period, in Indian interest rates would increase our costs of borrowing and adversely affect
our results of operations and might make additional borrowing to fund investment uneconomic and/or unaffordable. To
the extent borrowings (including vendor financings) are linked to floating external rates such as LIBOR, we are exposed
to similar risks of high or variable interest rates used to determine the amounts payable under such arrangements.

Enforcement of foreign judgments against our Company or our management may not be possible or may require
additional legal proceedings.

Our Company is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of India and majority of our Directors, Key
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Managerial Personnel and Senior Management are residents of India. A majority of our assets and the assets of the
Directors are located in India. As a result, it may be difficult for the investors to affect service of process upon our
Company or such persons outside India or to enforce judgments obtained in courts outside India.

India is not a party to any international treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of foreign judgments. India
has reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with only a limited number of
jurisdictions, which includes the United Kingdom, Singapore and Hong Kong. In order to be enforceable, a judgment from
a jurisdiction with reciprocity must meet certain requirements of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (the “Civil Code™).
Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions, which do not have reciprocal recognition with India cannot be executed in India.
Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any court in a non-reciprocating territory for civil
liability, whether or not predicated solely upon the general laws of the non-reciprocating territory, would not be
enforceable in India. Even if an investor obtained a judgment in such a jurisdiction against the Company or its officers or
directors, it may be required to institute a new proceeding in India and obtain a decree from an Indian court. However,
the party in whose favour such final judgment is rendered may bring a new suit in a competent court in India based on a
final judgment that has been obtained in a non-reciprocating territory within three years of obtaining such final judgment
in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability in India. It is unlikely that an Indian court would
award damages on the same basis or to the same extent as was awarded in a final judgment rendered by a court in another
jurisdiction if the Indian court believed that the amount of damages awarded was excessive or inconsistent with Indian
practice. In addition, any person seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain prior approval of the
RBI to repatriate any amount recovered pursuant to the execution of such a judgement. In addition, the regulatory regime
of our various international territories may have similar restrictions on enforcement of foreign judgments.

Any downgrading of India’s debt rating by a domestic or international rating agency could negatively impact our
business and the price of our Equity Shares.

India’s sovereign debt credit rating could be downgraded due to several factors, including changes in tax or fiscal policy
or adecline in India’s foreign exchange reserves, all which are outside the control of our Company. Any adverse revisions
to India’s credit ratings for domestic and international debt by domestic or international rating agencies may adversely
impact our ability to raise additional financing, and the interest rates and other commercial terms at which such additional
financing is available. This could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and business prospects, ability to
obtain financing for capital expenditures and the price of the Equity Shares.

Natural calamities, climate change and health epidemics and pandemics such as COVID-19 could adversely affect
the Indian economy and our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Further, hostilities,
wars and other acts of violence or manmade disasters could adversely affect the financial markets and our business.

India has experienced natural calamities, such as earthquakes and floods in recent years. Natural calamities could have
an adverse impact on the Indian economy which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, and may damage or
destroy our borrowers assets or projects. Any of these natural calamities could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition. A number of countries in Asia, including India, as well as countries in
other parts of the world, are susceptible to contagious diseases and, for example, have had confirmed cases of the
highly pathogenic H7N9, H5N1 and H1NL1 strains of influenza in birds and swine. Any future outbreak of health
epidemics may restrict the level of business activity in affected areas, which may, in turn, adversely affect our business.

Wars, terrorism and other acts of violence or manmade disasters may adversely affect our business and the Indian
markets. These acts may result in a loss of business confidence and have other consequences that could have an adverse
effect on our business. In addition, any deterioration in international relations, especially between India and its
neighbouring countries, may result in investor concern regarding regional stability which could adversely affect the price
of our Equity Shares. In addition, India has witnessed local civil disturbances in recent years and it is possible that
future civil unrest as well as other adverse social, economic or political events in India could have an adverse impact
on our business. Such incidents could also create a greater perception that investment in Indian companies involves a
higher degree of risk and could have an adverse impact on our business and the market price of our Equity Shares.

We are subject to risks arising from exchange rate fluctuations that could adversely affect our results of operations
and cash flows.

Our financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees and a substantial portion of the equipment we use is imported
and requires payments in foreign currencies. Imports are subject to Government regulations and approvals, the
availability of foreign exchange credit and the levy of customs duties. Where there is no local alternative, delays in
obtaining required approvals, change